Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

9-30-2021 3:00 PM

Protective benefits of sodium thiosulfate-supplemented UW solution against prolonged cold ischemia-reperfusion injury during renal transplantation.

Max Y. Zhang Mr., The University of Western Ontario

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Microbiology and Immunology © Max Y. Zhang Mr. 2021

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Zhang, Max Y. Mr., "Protective benefits of sodium thiosulfate-supplemented UW solution against prolonged cold ischemia-reperfusion injury during renal transplantation." (2021). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 8170. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8170

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Kidney transplantation is the preferred treatment for patients with end-stage renal disease. However, ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is an inevitable consequence of renal transplantation, with prolonged IRI periods associated with decreased graft survival and function. We have previously demonstrated that the supplementation of University of Wisconsin (UW) organ preservation solution with hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) donor molecules, such as AP39, leads to improved renal graft function and reduced transplantation-associated IRI. However, the approval of these experimental donor drugs for clinical use may be years away. In this study, we investigate the effects of an FDA-approved H₂S donor molecule, sodium thiosulfate (STS), to determine whether STS could mitigate cold renal IRI. In an in *vitro* model of renal IRI, adding STS to serum free media improved cell viability for cold preservation at 4^oC in a dose-dependent manner. Using a syngeneic renal transplantation model, we investigate the effect of adding STS to University of Wisconsin (UW) preservation solution, the clinical standard for preservation solution in static cold storage. Adding 150µM STS to UW solution improves graft survival, urine output and serum creatinine and blood urea nitrogen levels compared to preservation storage with UW solution alone.. Histopathological examination reveals a reduction in apoptosis and acute tubular necrosis along with decreased macrophage and neutrophil infiltration. Additionally, STS-supplemented preservation solution induced mitochondrial biogenesis and reduced renal apoptosis and inflammation gene expression. These data suggest that STS treatment on cold IRI-associated renal injury could represent a novel clinically applicable strategy to minimize the detrimental outcomes of prolonged cold IRI during renal transplantation.

Summary for Lay Audience

Kidney transplantation is inherently associated with ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI), a biological event that causes tissue damage to the transplanted kidney organ. Current methods to minimize IRI involves preserving the kidney in University of Wisconsin (UW) solution at cold temperatures. However, this kidney preservation method has persisted in its most simple form, as this method has not changed since its conception 60 years ago. Contrastingly, due to its low supply, more kidneys with increased cold IRI times are being accepted and used for transplantation to keep up with its high demand. Sodium thiosulfate (STS) is a clinical drug used to treat patients with calciphylaxis and cyanide poisoning. In the past decade, numerous studies have elucidated the protective effects of STS on hypertension and IRI on other organs, such as liver, heart and brain. Here we sought to determine if STS plays a beneficial role in minimizing cold IRI associated with kidney transplantation. We concluded that preservation of renal grafts in STS-supplemented UW solution protects against prolonged IRI by suppressing apoptotic and inflammatory pathways, and thereby improving graft function and recipient survival. With STS being an FDA-approved compound, its protective benefits could serve as a novel clinically applicable therapeutic strategy to mitigate the harmful outcomes of prolonged IRI during kidney transplantation.

Keywords

Keywords: Sodium thiosulfate, ischemia-reperfusion injury, kidney transplantation, kidney preservation, graft survival

Acknowledgments

I would like to first and foremost thank my supervisor and mentor, Dr. Alp Sener, for his support, guidance, and patience throughout my undergraduate honors thesis and Master's thesis. Dr. Sener first captivated my interest in his laboratory during my undergraduate years with his clinical translational focus of his research. Without him, I would not have such an amazing project or the opportunity to explore it further. His kind attitude and reassuring words helped me when I was at my most stressed and lowest point and reignited my passion for my work. His contagious enthusiasm and passion for his work have inspired me to relook at life and continues to drive me every day. One of my favorite things about Dr. Sener is his positive attitude and excitement for new discoveries in research, which always puts a smile to my face. Thank you for giving me the independence and freedom to grow and learn on my own. Your approach to research, mentorship, and life have taught me a lot and I hope to take those lessons to grow my career and as an individual.

Next, I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Sung Kim, and Dr. Lakshman Gunaratnam. Their insightful input on my project helped me constantly improve my research and were instrumental to the growth of my thesis. Dr. Kim, thank you for your expertise on the immunology aspect of my project, as your never-ending knowledge helped me think about my project differently, finding alternate ways to solve research problems, and propel it in the right direction. Dr. Gunaratnam, thank you for teaching me the priceless skill on how to think in a critical manner and always going beyond and thinking outside the box. Also, thank you for inviting me to your wonderful social charity events, which offered me a different perspective on being a researcher/physician.

Next, I would like to thank the past and present members of Dr. Sener's lab (Smriti Juriasingani, Mounirah May, George Dugbartey, Masoud Akbari, Elena Kim, Lauren Mills, Vicky Vo, Austin Kemp, Jiakun Li, Kyle Willms, Katherine Pacoli, Justin Chan, Tiago Ribeiro, and Sally Lin) for being there from the beginning to the end and making my lab experience a fun and wonderful learning environment. The countless memories we've made as colleagues and as friends will never be forgotten, and I wish you all best of luck in your future endeavors. In addition, I would like to thank colleagues and friends from surrounding labs for their support. From Dr. Gunaratnam's lab, I would like to thank Jasper Lee, Demitra Yotis, Ingrid Hon, and Dr. Ji Yun Lee for their moral support and social interactions. From Dr. Jevnikar's lab, I would like to thank Patrick McLeod for his technical guidance, all the fun conversations we have, and his amazing ability to fix any broken equipment. In addition, I would like to thank the staff at the Matthew Mailing Centre for Translational Transplant Studies. First, thank you Dr. Jacqueline Arp for your technical guidance and warm attitude to the lab environment. Second, thank you Sally Major and Dr. Jifu Jiang for helping me with the rat experiments, I could not have done it without you two. Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. Aaron Haig and Weihua Liu from the Department of Pathology for their help with histological staining and other technical guidance.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and Cynthia for their support and love during my undergraduate and Master's studies. I will forever be grateful for their unconditional love and encouragement; you guys inspire me to go out each and every day and be the best man I can.

|--|

Abstract				
Summary for Lay Audienceiii				
Acknowledgments iv				
Table of Contents				
List of Tables				
List of Figures				
Chapter 11				
1 Introduction				
1.1 End stage renal disease1				
1.2 Obstacles for renal transplantation				
1.2.1 Availability of Donor Organs				
1.2.2 Ischemia reperfusion injury2				
1.3 Current clinically used methods of organ preservation in renal transplantation 4				
1.4 Hydrogen Sulfide7				
1.5 Sodium Thiosulfate				
1.5.1 Contemporary uses of STS				
1.5.2 Biochemical characteristics of STS and its relationship to H_2S 10				
1.5.3 Physiological roles of STS12				
1.5.4 Physiological roles of STS in IRI13				
1.5.5 Rationale: potential of STS to mitigate cold IRI during renal transplantaiton				
1.6 Aims and Objectives				
Chapter 2				
2 Materials and Methods				
2.1 In vitro model of renal epithelial cell IRI				

2.2 Animal description and care			. 17		
		2.2.1 Experimental animals	. 17		
		2.2.2 Syngenic renal transplantation surgical procedure and postopperative monitoring of rats	. 17		
	2.3	Creatinine and urine assays	. 18		
	2.4	Histological staining	. 20		
	2.5	Microscopic image analysis	. 20		
	2.6	Quantitative PCR analysis	. 20		
	2.7	Statistical analysis	. 21		
Cl	hapte	or 3	. 25		
3	Res	ults	. 25		
	3.1	STS-supplemented serum free media improves renal tubular epithelial cell survival in a dose-dependent manner during cold hypoxia and reoxygenation	. 25		
	3.2	STS treatment improves early graft survival and function	. 28		
	3.3	STS supplementation improves uring osmolality and induces diuresis after rena transplantation	մ . 31		
	3.4	STS treatment mitigates donor kidney apoptosis and necrosis after renal transplantation	. 34		
	3.5	STS treated kidneys exhibited decreased injury markers and inflammatory infiltrate following renal transplantation	. 37		
	3.6	STS treated grafts modified renal expression of pro-inflammatory, pro-apoptoti and mitochondrial markers	ic, . 41		
Cl	hapte	or 4	. 43		
4	Dise	cussion	. 43		
A	ppen	dencies	. 51		
References or Bibliography					
Cı	urricu	ulum Vitae	. 65		

List of Tables

Table 1: List of qPCR primer sequences 22

List of Figures

Figure 1: Pathophysiology of renal ischemia reperfusion injury during transplantation
Figure 2: Mitochondrial sulfide oxidation pathway generates thiosulfate from H ₂ S 11
Figure 3: Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in transplantation model in rats
Figure 4: STS supplementation improves renal tubular epithelial cell survival in a dose-
dependent manner during a model of cold ischemia reperfusion injury (IRI)
Figure 5: STS improves renal graft survival and function following 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation
Figure 6: STS supplementation improves urine osmolality and induces diuresis after renal transplantation
Figure 7: STS mitigates renal graft apoptosis after 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation
Figure 8: STS mitigates renal graft necrosis scores after 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation
Figure 9: STS mitigates renal graft expression of KIM-1 after 24h cold organ storage and
syngeneic renal transplantation
Figure 10: STS decreases macrophage infiltrate in renal grafts after 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation
Figure 11: STS decreases neutrophil infiltrate in renal grafts after 24h cold organ storage and
syngeneic renal transplantation
Figure 12: STS modulates renal graft expression of inflammatory and apoptotic genes 42
Figure 13: Proposed mechanism of action of STS in prolonged cold renal IRI in
transplantation

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

1.1 End stage renal disease

End-stage renal disease (ESRD) is the last stage of chronic kidney disease (CKD) after which the kidney is no longer able to support an individual's day-to-day needs [1]. Patients with ESRD exhibit a glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of less than 15 mL/min, a marker of significant kidney damage [1]. In North America, the most common causes of CKD are diabetes, hypertension, and obstructive uropathy [1]. In 2019, ESRD affected over 41,000 Canadians, a 33% increase since 2010 [2], and is therefore a major burden to the healthcare system.

There are currently two forms of treatment for renal failure in ESRD patients: dialysis and renal transplantation. Dialysis is a treatment for kidney failure by removing waste, toxins, and excess fluids to prevent them from building up in one's body while maintaining a safe level of chemicals, such as sodium, potassium, and bicarbonate, in the blood [3]. This process can be done by direct filtering of the blood through a dialysis machine (hemodialysis) or a surgical implanted catheter in the abdomen filled with dialysate to filter blood through the peritoneum via passive diffusion (peritoneal dialysis) [4]. However, long term risks of dialysis include increased infections, anemia, low blood pressure, and cardiovascular complications. The 10-year survival rates of patients with ESRD in Canada undergoing dialysis are less than 15%, which is similar to other chronic illnesses such as cancer [2]. Another treatment for ESRD is kidney transplantation, a surgical procedure to procure a healthy kidney from a living or decreased donor and subsequent engraftment of the kidney into a recipient. Compared to dialysis, kidney transplantation is the treatment of choice for patients with ESRD as it offers improved survival and quality of life. Patients who receive renal transplantation show a 79.8% 5-year survival rate for deceased donors and 92.4% for living donors, compared to a 42.1% survival for ESRD patients treated with dialysis alone [2]. Renal transplantation is also the more cost-effective long-term treatment for ESRD, since the total annual cost per patient on dialysis is approximately \$100,000 [4]. In addition, ESRD patients who received renal transplantation displayed better quality of life compared to patients undergoing chronic dialysis treatment due to the decreased cardiovascular complications, fewer dietary restrictions, and the elimination of multiple visits per week to dialysis clinics for hemodialysis [5]. Overall, it is evident that renal transplantation is a preferred choice for the treatment of ESRD.

1.2 Obstacles for renal transplantation

1.2.1 Availability of Donor Organs

Although renal transplantation is the optimal choice for treating patients with ESRD, the lack of available donor organs is a primary challenge that limits the implementation of kidney transplantation to such patients. In the past decade, the demand for kidney transplantation has increased due to prevalence of chronic diseases such as hypertension and diabetes. As such during this period, the kidney transplantation waiting lists have grown by 62% in the United States and 20% in Canada, with over 105,000 patients on the kidney transplantation wait list in North America [6,7]. On the other hand, the total number of living kidney donors remains stagnant, with an average of 400 cases per year in Canada [2]. This increase in demand over supply of living donor kidneys increases mortality rates of ESRD patients as they are forced to undergo longer dialysis periods while the transplantation waiting lists grows.

1.2.2 Ischemia reperfusion injury

Another major challenge in renal transplantation is that organ procurement is inherently associated with ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI). Renal IRI is an inevitable consequence of transplantation and is defined as tissue injury due to temporary cessation of blood flow upon procurement (ischemia) and subsequent restoration of blood flow to the ischemic graft upon transplantation (reperfusion) [8]. The first major molecular event of IRI occurs when cells are deprived of adequate oxygen due to cessation of blood flow, resulting in energy depletion since the cells are unable to synthesize ATP [9]. The depletion of ATP elicits a rise in inorganic phosphate and inhibits Na^+/K^+ pumps, resulting in influx of Ca^{2+} in the cytoplasm, and increased mitochondrial inner membrane permeability [10]. In addition, prolonged ischemic time can damage multiple protein complexes in the electron transport chain (ETC), ultimately leading it to be more prone to electron leakage [11]. The second major molecular event in IRI occurs when blood flow is restored to the ischemic tissue and is often characterized by increased ROS formation due to mitochondrial complex I dysfunction and decreased ATP production and cell death [12]. ROS can impair ETC complexes, which further inhibits ATP production and increases electron leakage [13]. Cellular ATP depletion leads to an increase in expression of proapoptotic proteins such as BID and BAX, which causes mitochondrial swelling and induces the efflux of cytochrome c and apoptosis-inducing factor [14]. Correspondingly, these factors activate caspase 3 apoptotic signaling cascades, which initiates cellular apoptosis. The pathophysiology of IRI in the kidney also involves the triggering of inflammation cascades that damages renal tissue. Activation of Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT) pathway can recruit pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) and interleukin 6 (IL6), all of which plays a major role in renal damage induced by IRI [15-18]. Additionally, these inflammatory mediators and ROS elicit leukocytes and neutrophil infiltration into the ischemic tissue, which leads to swelling of the endothelial cell and promotes programmed necrosis [19-21]. Kaminski et al. showed that activation of neutrophils can release ROS and other mediators that accelerates IRI, ultimately leading to acute and chronic kidney failure [22]. Recent studies found a new type of programmed cell death that is closely related to the pathophysiological process of IRI: ferroptosis [23]. Ferroptosis is characterized by large amount of iron accumulation, intracellular lipid ROS, and lipid peroxidation during the iron-dependent cell death process [24]. A study in 2014 found that ferroptosis was functionally relevant in IRI and acute tubular necrosis and showed that a ferroptosis inhibitor protected against this injury [25]. Another study highlights ferroptosis as the main death pathway of renal tubular cells in an acute kidney injury mouse model [26]. An additional mode of regulated programmed cell death is necroptosis, whose pathway is characterized by TNF α , interferon, Fas ligands, and oxidative stress [27]. Recent studies found that renal IRI led to increased levels of necroptosis in human kidney cells, as evident by the upregulation of necroptotic markers including oxidative stress, inflammatory cytokines, MLKL, RIPK1, and RIPK3 [28]. Interestingly, an in vivo study found that

apoptosis co-occurred with necroptosis in mice following renal IRI, as shown by increased levels of cleaved caspase 3 and positive TUNEL cells [29]. The pathophysiology of renal IRI is very complex but some pathological pathways such as excessive ROS production, ATP depletion, induction of cellular apoptotic pathways, activation of neutrophils, and other inflammatory mediators are major molecular events associated with IRI. These complex processes are graphically depicted in Figure 1.

1.3 Current clinically used methods of organ preservation in renal transplantation

During renal transplantation, the ischemic period is divided into warm ischemic time (WIT) and cold ischemic time (CIT) [30]. The former is defined as the loss of blood flow to the organ which occurs when the renal arteries and veins are ligated. This interval of warm ischemia is then followed by a period of cold ischemia of various time periods wherein the organ is conserved in a hypothermic solution at 4°C to slow cellular activity and reduce production of toxic metabolites before being transplanted into the recipient [31-32]. By slowing down the harmful effects of IRI during CIT, physicians can accomplish tissue typing and cross-matching as well as organ transportation and preparation of the recipient [33]. Immunosuppressive regimens have advanced substantially in recent years along with our understanding of allograft rejection, yet organ preservation persists in its most simple form; static cold storage (SCS) is the most prevalent method for renal allograft preservation and this method has not changed since its conception over 60 years ago [34]. Although SCS is the current standard of care for organ preservation, these methods have been maximized and prolonged periods (>24h) of cold IRI are still associated with increased rates of acute tubular necrosis, decreased graft survival, and delayed graft function [35-38]. In recent years, we have seen a shift away from the traditional paradigm of SCS to a more dynamic organ storage, such as the use of machine perfusion (MP). Traditionally, SCS organs are bathed in preservation solution inside sterile plastic bags covered with ice prior to transportation to the recipient. MP, on the other hand, is a pump that continuously perfuses the kidney with preservation solution [39]. Immediately after procurement, the organ is attached to the machine via the renal artery, and a device generates a continuous flow via a peristaltic pump [39]. Studies that compared MP to SCS



Figure 1: Pathophysiology of kidney ischemia reperfusion injury during transplantation. Renal IRI is an inevitable obstacle of transplantation and is defined as tissue injury due to temporary cessation of blood flow upon procurement (ischemia) and subsequent restoration of blood flow to the ischemic tissue upon transplantation (reperfusion). This process increases mitochondrial permeability and decreases ATP levels, resulting in an increase in ROS production. In addition, the metabolic deficit triggers pro-apoptotic markers BAX, ultimately leading to apoptosis via the complement pathway. ROS and DAMPs can also trigger inflammatory cytokines and consequently cause innate immune cells to adhere to inflamed renal endothelium and extravasate to the interstitial space, where they release more damaging ROS. These renal injuries resulting from IRI results in renal cell death and graft dysfunction in the post-transplant period.

have shown that MP kidneys had lower incidence of delayed graft function, while providing additional parameters, including flow, temperature, and pressure, that allow a more elaborate evaluation of ischemic damage and organ viability to predict post-transplant outcomes [40-43]. Often, transplant centers differ in the timing and nature of MP utilized in terms of its availability and transportability. Therefore, MP is frequently combined with periods of SCS, making a debate on what the ideal perfusion period and timing of perfusion are [44]. An additional potential use of MP for surgeons is the assessment of graft quality and viability prior to transplantation through the analysis of perfusion flow and quantifiable biomarkers within the perfusate [45-46].

Currently, the most commonly used organ preservation solutions for kidney transplantation are University of Wisconsin (UW) solution, histidine-tryptophanketoglutarate (HTK), Celsior, and hyperosmolar citrate (Marshall's solution, HOC) [33]. Out of the listed solutions, UW solution is currently considered to be the gold standard among organ preservation solutions. UW solution was developed by Dr. Belzer and James Southard in the 1980s and was shown to safely allow preservation of human grafts for an extended period [47]. UW solution is made up of a combination of metabolically inert substrates, including raffinose, adenosine, glutathione, allopurinol, hydroxyethyl starch, and lactobionate [48]. In addition, UW solution contains adenosine, which acts as the substrate for the synthesis of ATP during reperfusion and the antioxidant glutathione to act as oxygen radical scavengers and neutralize ROS generated during the reoxygenation part of reperfusion. [35,48]. However, some of the disadvantages to the solution are its high viscosity and high potassium concentration, making it less efficient in quickly flushing a donor graft. HTK was used as an alternative solution based on its low viscosity, low potassium level, and lower cost compared with those of UW solution [49]. Studies comparing the use of UW and HTK for organ preservation have shown similar results in terms of graft and the patient survival, especially if CIT was kept at a minimum [49-52]. However, in studies with prolonged CIT, HTK was shown to be inferior compared to UW due to increased risk of graft loss and thrombosis [51-54]. To keep up with the global rising incidence of ESRD and ever-increasing number of patients on transplant waitlists, many transplant programs accept grafts with extended cold storage times, thus increasing CIT which ultimately continues to represent a major challenge in mitigating renal IRI and improving clinical outcomes of transplantation.

1.4 Hydrogen Sulfide

One recent promising therapeutic strategy to mitigate IRI during renal transplantation is the use of gasotransmitters. Gasotransmitters are small, endogenously produced molecules and have been shown to have various cytoprotective effects. The family of molecules includes carbon monoxide (CO), nitric oxide (NO), and hydrogen sulfide (H_2S). H_2S is a gasotransmitter that is endogenously produced from the amino acid L-cysteine and 3-mercaptopruvate via 3 enzymes: cystathionine β -synthase, cystathionine γ -lyase, and 3-mercaptopruvate sulfurtransferase [55]. For several decades, H₂S was notoriously known for its toxic effects and death among agricultural and industrial workers at high concentrations. The mechanism underlying the toxic effect of H_2S involves inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase (complex IV), the terminal complex of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, resulting in lack of oxygen use in cells [56]. In the past 25 years, however, this obnoxious-smelling membrane-permeable gas has risen above its negative public image and is now known to play several important functions in physiological processes at low concentrations. In addition to its many cellular signaling properties such as reducing inflammation and stimulating cell proliferation, H_2S can also play a detoxifying role during oxidative stress by increasing the development of the antioxidant glutathione [57]. Furthermore, a 2012 study by Aminzadeh et al, found that progression of chronic kidney disease is associated with a reduction of H_2S and its corresponding production enzymes [58]. Given the cytoprotective features of H_2S , its supplementation with preservation solution could contribute to combatting the inflammatory and oxidative stress environment that IRI induces. H₂S can be delivered via gaseous administration or through the use of donor molecules. Our lab has been the first to show that supplementing standard organ preservation solution (UW solution) with H₂S donor molecules (AP39 and GYY147) protects rats and porcine donor kidneys from prolonged warm and cold ischemic injury and improves graft function following transplantation [59-61]. In terms of alleviating the effects of IRI, AP39 demonstrates greater potential because it is targeted to the mitochondria, which has been well established

as a key mediator in IRI, via its triphenylphosphonium motif. Further evidence of this was confirmed using an *in vitro* model of renal IRI, where it was shown that AP39 is 1000-fold more cytoprotective from cell death than non-targeting H₂S donor molecules, such as GYY4137 [62]. We have also shown that prolonged SCS in UW solution supplemented with AP39 leads to improved graft function and reduced tissue injury following allogeneic renal transplantation in rats [63]. These latest findings have pushed the potential clinical use of H₂S donor molecules, especially those targeting the mitochondria, in organ preservation solutions. Unfortunately, these experimental H₂S donor molecules are decades away from clinical use due to the time-consuming process of clinical testing. Therefore, to translate our bench work to clinical practice, we have begun looking into sodium thiosulfate (STS), an already clinically utilized drug known to release H₂S [64].

1.5 Sodium Thiosulfate

Sodium thiosulfate (STS, $Na_2S_2O_3$) is a synthetic, white crystalline solid or powder with no odor and dissolves easily in water. This inorganic compound is typically available in the form of the pentahydrate ($Na_2S_2O_3 \cdot 5H2O$), with a molecular weight of 158.11g/mol. STS is currently on the World Health Organization's list of essential medicines and has numerous other uses including a common food preservation additive, a water dechlorinator, a photographic fixative, and a bleaching agent for paper pulp.

1.5.1 Contemporary uses of STS

STS has long been known to physicians as STS was used to treat some rare medical conditions, including cyanide poisoning, cisplatin toxicity, and calciphylaxis. Over the past few decades, STS has been used as an antidote for the treatment of cyanide poisoning. STS was shown to serve as a sulfur donor in the reaction catalyzed by rhodanese for detoxification of cyanide to thiocyanate, which is then renally excreted [65]. This occurs after sodium nitrate removes cyanide from the mitochondrial electron transport chain by inducing the formation of methemoglobin [65,66]. The United States has a standard cyanide antidote kit which first uses 10 mL intravenous sodium nitrite, followed immediately by 50 mL (250 mg/mL) intravenous STS.

Another STS use is to protect against cisplatin toxicity. Cisplatin is one of the most widely used agents to treat solid tumors. However, it has adverse effects on renal, neurological, and hematological systems [67]. Laplace *et al.* showed that administering STS protects renal impairment following cisplatin chemotherapy [68]. Efficacy is thought to be related to STS binding to free platinum, resulting in total clearance of inactive metabolite and limiting renal tubular cell necrosis [69]. In addition, the use of cisplatin to effectively treat childhood hepatoblastoma can cause severe and permanent ototoxicity, leading to eventual hearing loss. Studies concluded that addition of STS six hours after cisplatin chemotherapy resulted in lower incidence of cisplatin-induced hearing loss among children with standard-risk hepatoblastoma, without jeopardizing overall and event-free survival [70]. STS was shown to inhibit oxidative stress at the sensitive cochlea that was caused by ototoxicity. After two successful clinical trials, Fennec Pharmaceuticals is currently waiting on FDA approval on the first potential prevention of platinum induced ototoxicity in pediatric patients [71].

Calciphylaxis is yet another condition where STS is used for treatment. Seen in people with ESRD, calciphylaxis is predictor of cardiovascular death in long-term hemodialysis patients [72]. It is characterized by systemic medial calcification of the arterioles leading to ischemia and subcutaneous necrosis. Promising results have been obtained through the use of intralesional STS. Areas of clinically active disease were treated with 250ml/mg STS, resulting in the resolution of calciphylaxis lesions over a period of weeks with no recurrence of the disease [73]. Recently, Peng *et al.* conducted a systemic review of several cases on the use of STS for calciphylaxis and found that STS has a promising role as an effective therapy for calciphylaxis by acting as an anticalcification agent with vasodilatory and antioxidant properties [74]. Their study results supported previous reports that suggested STS could combine with insoluble tissue calcium salts to form calcium thiosulfate, a salt that can later be dialyzed [74-76].

1.5.2 Biochemical characteristics of STS and its relationship to H₂S

At a physiological level in tissue, thiosulfate can be generated from the mitochondrial sulfide oxidation pathway with H_2S as the substrate. This process involves 3 mitochondrial enzymes: quinone oxidoreductase, sulfur transferase, and sulfur dioxygenase [77]. Using an isolated mitochondria rat model, Hildebrandt et al. showed a potential biochemical pathway of H_2S oxidation to thiosulfate [78]. First a membrane bound sulfide, quinone oxidoreductase (SQR), oxidizes H₂S to persulfide, which is transferred to a persulfide group (SQR-SSH). A persulfide dioxygenase (PDO) in the mitochondrial matrix oxides one persulfide molecule to sulfite (H_2SO_3) , which is then used in a sulfurtransferase reaction catalyzed by rhodanese (Rhd) to form thiosulfate [77]. Rhodanese is a mitochondrial enzyme that transfers sulfur atom from sulfane-containing donor to thiophilic acceptor substrate [79]. Catalytic activity of rhodanese occurs by a double displacement mechanism, where the active site cysteine residue (Cys247) accepts a sulfur atom from the persulfide intermediate state followed by the transfer of sulfide sulfur from enzyme to the nucleophilic acceptor sulfite to produce thiosulfate [80]. Although human mitochondria also utilize sulfide oxidation pathway, recent evidence suggests that the persulfide intermediate formed by human SQR uses glutathione (GSH) [81, 82]. More recently, Libiad et al. found that the kinetic behavior of these enzymes favors SQR using glutathione as an acceptor to form glutathione persulfide (GSSH), which is then converted to thiosulfate by human rhodanese [83]. This is further confirmed by kinetic simulations in previous rat liver mitochondria studies in the absence and presence of GSH, which supports that glutathione persulfide is the first intermediate formed in the flow of the sulfide oxidation pathway [82]. This complex process is graphically depicted in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Mitochondrial sulfide oxidation pathway generates thiosulfate from H₂S. Hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) is produced by enzymes of the trans-sulfuration pathway, cystathione γ -lyase (CSE), and cystathionine β -synthase (CBS). A third enzyme, 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (MST) can also produce endogenous H₂S in the presence of the substrate 3-mercaptopyruvate. A membrane bound sulfide, quinone oxidoreductase (SQR), oxidizes H₂S to persulfide, which is transferred to a glutathione (GSH). A persulfide dioxygenase (PDO) in the mitochondrial matrix oxides one glutathione persulfide (GSSH) to sulfite (H₂SO₃), which is then used in a sulfurtransferase reaction catalyzed by rhodanase (Rhd) to form thiosulfate (S₂O₃²⁻) by transferring a second glutathione persulfide from SQR to sulfite. Sulfite can be further oxidized by sulfite oxidase (SO) to form sulfate and is subsequently excreted in the urine.

In addition to the generation of thiosulfate from H_2S via the sulfide oxidation pathway, the reverse reaction can also occur in the mitochondria. Jackson *et al.* [81], using recombinant human SQR in Escherichia coli, showed that the metabolism of thiosulfate is catalyzed by thiosulfate reductase as it consumes two glutathione and results in the generation of sulfite, oxidized glutathione, and H₂S. Further evidence of thiosulfate's ability to produce H_2S via a glutathione-dependent reduction was confirmed in a study that showed exogenous thiosulfate treatment effects sulfide levels in a dose dependent manner that impacts glutathione metabolism [84]. On the other hand, other studies do not support the contribution of glutathione in H₂S production from thiosulfate. Olson et al. found that H₂S generation from thiosulfate was due to the presence of DTT, an exogenous reducing agent [85]. However, regardless of the exact mechanism of how sulfur is transferred, thiosulfate appears to be a key intermediate. In addition to thiosulfate being a stable, nontoxic metabolite of H_2S [86], it is also a sulfane sulfur which is defined as sulfur atoms covalently bonded to other sulfur atoms, making it unstable and readily oxidizing in air and reducing with thiols [87]. Compounds containing sulfane sulfur are known to possess cell regulatory effects through the activation or inactivation of enzymes and changing protein activities [88]. The functions of sulfane sulfur include tRNA sulfuration, antioxidant regulation, and iron-sulfur protein formation [88-90].

1.5.3 Protective roles of STS

STS has shown some promise in treating other conditions by serving as a H₂S donor molecule. Thiosulfate has two unpaired electrons: one at the single bonded sulfur moiety of the disulfide bond, and the other at the single bonded oxygen [91]. This characteristic allows thiosulfate to donate electrons to unpaired damaging electrons associated with reactive oxygen species (ROS), making it an effective antioxidant [85, 92, 93]. Further evidence of thiosulfate's antioxidant properties was confirmed in a mouse model of congestive heart failure study by Sen *et al.*, where their data showed that thiosulfate scavenged superoxide in myocardial tissue [94]. Mishanina *et al.* took a step further and discovered that thiosulfate can react with superoxide to form glutathione, a thiol-dependent

antioxidant system in mammalian cells [95]. Further evidence of STS's antioxidant properties was confirmed in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of hyperoxaluria and renal injury, where the authors showed that STS treatment scavenged reactive oxygen species in a dose dependent manner and maintained superoxide dismutase activity in order to reduce cellular hydrogen peroxide levels [96]. A recent study examined the protective properties of STS in angiotensin II-induced renal hypertension in rats where the authors showed that STS treatment induced a lower plasma urea, proteinuria, and improved creatinine clearance [97]. In addition, STS prevented angiotensin II-induced influx of macrophages, demonstrating its anti-inflammatory properties [97]. Their study results agreed with previous reports which demonstrated that suggested H₂S has anti-inflammatory capabilities by down-regulating expression of inflammatory genes such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , and MAP-1, and by reducing macrophage recruitment [98].

1.5.4 Physiological roles of STS in IRI

It has been well recognized that mitochondrial damage and its ensuing dysfunction is a key mediator of IRI. Under ischemic and oxidative conditions, mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) opens, leading to mitochondrial dysfunction and ultimately cell death [99]. However, a recent study by Baldev et al. developed an in vivo model where rats were induced with nephrolithiasis by administrating ethylene glycol [100]. STS treatment group demonstrated normal renal tissue form, along with normal urea and serum creatinine. STS was found to activate mitochondrial ATP-sensitive potassium (K_{ATP}) channel, suggesting that the opening of these channels may have inhibited mitochondrial permeability transition [94,101]. Further evidence of STS maintaining mitochondrial function was confirmed in a study by Mohan *et al.*, where isolated rat mitochondria were subjected to physiological oxidative stress. The results showed that the pretreated STS group had higher renal mitochondrial enzyme activity due to its increased NADH dehydrogenase activity compared to the non-treated group [102]. In a recent study, Ravindran et al. reported that a rat heart IRI model preconditioned with STS exhibited similar ATP synthase activity and mitochondrial enzyme activity compared to sham [103]. In addition, the STS treatment group improved activities of ETC complex enzymes I-IV

and showed significantly increased expression of PGC-1 α , a positive regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis, ATP production, and ROS-detoxifying system [104].

A 2017 study showed that in both in vitro and in vivo models of heart IRI, STS preconditioning significantly increased NADH dehydrogenase activity and decreased oxidative stress due to increased activities of antioxidant enzymes such as GSH, catalase, and superoxide dismutase [105]. In addition, an *in silico* model in the same study showed that STS has higher binding affinity for caspase 3. Once STS interacts with caspase 3 and binds to its Cys-163 active site via strong hydrogen bonds, it increases persulfidation of the enzyme. This oxidation reaction results in the inactivation of caspase-3 by preventing access of natural substrate to caspase-3 binding site, ultimately halting apoptosis [105]. Further evidence of STS's higher binding affinity for caspase 3 was confirmed in a study by Marutani et al., where the authors discovered that STS inhibits caspase 3 via persulfidation of the same active site Cys-163 to protect the mice against neuronal IRI [106]. In addition, STS was shown to activate Erk 1/2 and block the c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), which lead to the inhibition of apoptosis by preventing the dephosphorylation of the pro-apoptotic protein Bad and the downregulation of antiapoptotic gene, Bcl-2 [107-109]. In summary, the literature suggested that STS modulates mitochondria potassium ATP channel, possess a calcium chelation effect, mitigates oxidative stresses, has antiinflammatory properties, involves in mitochondrial ETC regulation, and acts as a sulfide donor, ultimately leading to protection against IRI in various tissues.

1.5.5 Rationale and Hypothesis

We have previously shown that supplementing standard organ preservation solution (UW solution) with H₂S donor molecules (AP39 and GYY147) protects rats and porcine donor kidneys from prolonged warm and cold ischemic injury and improves graft function following transplantation [59,61-63]. However, it is important to note that these H₂S donor molecules, such as AP39, must go through many regulatory steps before they could be available for clinical use. STS on the other hand is an FDA-approved compound for treating diseases such as calciphylaxis and cyanide poisoning [64-68]. In addition, several studies have elucidated the ability of mitochondrial enzymes to generate STS from H₂S via a sulfide oxidation pathway and the reverse reaction via a glutathione-dependent reduction [77-78]. Emerging data on the biological effects of STS and its close chemical relationship with H₂S support the development of STS-based therapeutics.

Besides its clinical applications, STS has also been shown experimentally to effectively protect against renovascular hypertension, and other models of renal injury via its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties [95,97,98]. Additionally, numerous studies suggested that STS can mitigate IRI-induced damage in heart and brain tissues by preserving mitochondrial complex, modulating mitochondrial ATP channel, mitigating oxidative stress, and downregulating pro-apoptotic genes [99-104].

In the context of kidney transplantation, modification of the preservation solutions with STS at the right concentration may be a simple, inexpensive, and nontoxic novel therapeutic strategy to mitigate prolonged cold renal IRI in donor organs to ultimately improve renal graft outcomes and minimize post-transplant complications. However, this novel concept remains to be explored in a clinically relevant model of renal transplantation.

HYPOTHESIS: Supplementation of standard organ preservation solutions with STS will lead to improved graft function and decreased tissue injury in an *in vitro* and *in vivo* rat transplantation model by limiting IRI-induced oxidative stress and by preserving cellular metabolic activity.

1.6 Aims and Objectives

The objective of this study was to elucidate the protective effects of STS organ preservation in cellular and rat models of renal IRI. This study could ultimately help identify STS as a novel therapeutic target for treatment of IRI associated with kidney transplantation.

The specific aims of the work outlined in this thesis were to: 1) Characterize underlying mechanisms of cytoprotective effects of STS during renal IRI *in vitro* using rat kidney epithelial (NRK-52E) cell lines; and, 2) Investigate whether STS improves graft function and reduces tissue injury in an *in vivo* model of rat kidney transplantation.

Chapter 2

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 In vitro model of renal epithelial cell IRI

An in vitro model of cold hypoxia and warm reoxygenation injury that mimics cellular conditions during *in vivo* cold IRI was used to assess the protective effects of STS during renal IRI. Rat kidney epithelial cells (NRK-52E cell line; ATCC, USA) were used in the in vitro experiments because these cells are susceptible to ischemic injury [42] and used for consistency with the rat *in vivo* transplantation model used for the second aim of this study. The cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) inactivated by heat at 60°C for 20min and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (P/S). Cells were incubated at normal growth conditions of 37^oC, 21% O₂, and 5% CO₂. During experimentation, control cells were in conditions identical to those for pre-experimental cells. Experimental cells were treated with either serum free media (SF), SF plus 200nM AP39, or SF plus varying concentrations of sodium thiosulfate pentahydrate (STS), which were obtained from a 250mg/ml injectable solution of STS (Seacalphyx® [Seaford Pharmaceuticals Inc, Mississauga, ON, Canada]). 200nM AP39 was used because they previously have shown to be cytoprotective against the same cell line in a similar model of cold IRI [62]. Cells were then incubated at 10^oC for 24h in hypoxic growth conditions (5% CO₂, 0.5% O₂, 95% N₂) to simulate ischemic during cold organ preservation conditions. These hypoxic conditions were created using HypOxystation H85 hypoxia chamber (HYPO₂YGEN, USA). 10⁰C was used for the hypothermic condition because this was the lowest temperature that could be technologically achieved while maintaining a hypoxic 0.5% O₂ level. Following hypoxia, experimental cells media was replaced with control media and were reoxygenated via incubation in normal growth conditions (37°C, 21% O₂, and 5% CO₂) for 24h to simulate reperfusion and associated injury.

Following 24h reoxygenation, cellular viability was assessed via staining of cells with FITC-conjugated Annexin-V (FITC-Annexin-V; BioLegend, USA) and 7-Aminoactinomycin D (7-AAD; BioLegend, USA), which measures cellular apoptosis and

necrosis, respectively. Cells were analyzed via flow cytometry using the CytoFLEX S (Beckman Coulter, USA) and FlowJo version 11 (FlowJo LLC, USA) was used to appropriately gate the data for statistical analysis.

2.2 Animal description and care

2.2.1 Experimental animals

Male Lewis rats were purchased from Charles River Canada (St. Constant, QC, Canada) and used at 250-300g (n= 30). Rats were maintained in the Animal Care and Veterinary Services facility at Western University (London, ON) under standard conditions. Animal studies were approved by the Western University Council on Animal Care and Animal Use.

2.2.2 Syngeneic renal transplantation surgical procedure and postoperative monitoring of rats

Syngeneic Lewis rat renal transplantation was performed to eliminate any confounding effects of immunosuppression. Rats were randomized into treatment groups, anaesthetized with ketamine (30 mg/kg) and maintained under anesthesia with isoflurane during surgery. Using aseptic techniques, the left donor kidneys were procured and flushed with a 28-G Angiocath Becton-Dickinson with 10mL of either cold $(4^{\circ}C)$ University of Wisconsin (IW) preservation solution (UW group, n=8), or cold UW plus sodium thiosulfate pentahydrate (150uM Seacalphyx[®] [Seaford Pharmaceuticals Inc, Mississauga, ON, Canada]; STS group, n=6) until venous effluent was clear. Grafts were then placed in 50mL of the same perfusion solution and stored at 4^oC for 24h, a period that has previously been shown to result in acute tubular necrosis and inflammation that lead to graft loss and only 5% survival at POD 3 rats treated with UW solution alone [59]. After undergoing bilateral nephrectomy, recipient rats underwent renal transplantation with donor kidneys removed from cold storage via end-to-side anastomosis of donor inferior vena cava to recipient inferior vena cava with 11-0 Prolene suture followed by the donor ureter being anastomosed to recipient ureter using 10-0 PDS sutures. Our aim was to assess the protective effects of STS on graft function and survival after extreme cold storage in a survival model where the recipient rat was solely dependent upon the transplanted graft for renal function. Sham-operated rats (mid-line incision only; n=5), were also followed to establish a baseline for survival, histological analysis, BUN, and serum creatinine. Additionally, another subset of rats in the STS group had grafts removed pre-emptively at POD 3 (n=5) for comparison of histological analysis to UW animals that were sacrificed at this time point. All surgeries were performed by the same microsurgeon who was blinded to the experimental design with the length of surgery for the recipient being approximately 2-3h for both treatment groups. There was no difference in operating times between the UW and STS treatment groups. Graft failure was presumed in animals that required premature sacrifice (severe visible distress and/or >20% weight loss) or death. At the time of sacrifice, all anastomoses were checked for surgical complications that may cause variations in the results; none were discovered. The experimental model is graphically depicted in Figure 3.

2.3 Creatinine and urine assays

Following renal transplantation, rats were monitored in metabolic cages for a period of 14 days or until sacrifice. The time period of 14 days was picked since animals that survived past 9 days post-transplant were seen to have fully recovered renal function [59,61,62.63]. At various time points (POD 3, 5, 7, 10, and 14) rats were removed from their metabolic cages and the previous 24h worth of urine output were measured and collected for urine osmolality analysis. In addition, 200uL of blood was taken from the tail vein following the ACVS protocol, spun at 2500rpm for 10min to separate the serum and stored at -80^oC until analyzed for serum creatinine and BUN levels. Blood urea nitrogen and creatinine and levels of serum obtained from renal transplantation and Sham-operated rats were determined using the enzymatic method performed on the IDEXX Catalyst One Chemistry Analyzer machine (IDEXX, Markham, ON). Urine osmolality levels were determined by freezing-point osmometry using the 3320 Osmometer machine (Advanced Instruments, Norwood, MA) and compared to company provided standards.



Figure 3: Renal transplantation model in rats.

2.4 Histological staining

In each arm of the study, renal grafts obtained at time of sacrifice were sagitally bivalved, where half of the sagitally bivalved kidneys was placed in 10% formalin for paraffin embedding and sectioning, while the other half was flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C for quantitative PCR (qPCR) analysis. Histological sections were stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) and Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) to determine the level of acute tubular necrosis and apoptosis respectively. H&E sections were assigned a score for ATN by a blinded renal pathologist as per the following scheme: 1 = <11%, 2 = 11-24%, 3 = 25-45%, 4 = 46-75%, 5 = >75% graft ATN. Histological sections also underwent immunohistochemical staining, with n=5 for each treatment group. Sections were incubated with antibodies against kidney injury marker (KIM-1), macrophage surface marker CD68, and neutrophil-specific enzyme myeloperoxidase (MPO; Abcam®, Toronto, Canada) and visualized with secondary antibodies and DAB substrate chromogen using the Dako Envision System (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) as per manufacturer's protocol.

2.5 Microscopic image analysis

TUNEL and immunohistochemically stained sections were analyzed using an Eclipse 90i digital light microscope at 10x magnification (Nikon® Instruments, New York) and were read by a trained renal pathologist who was blinded to the treatment groups. Five images were analyzed per section of TUNEL, KIM-1, CD68, and MPO analysis and total (+) staining per field of view was quantified by ImageJ software v. 1.8 (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD).

2.6 Quantitative PCR analysis

Homogenized renal graft tissue obtained at POD 3, containing equal portions of cortex and medulla, was analyzed to determine relative expression levels of genes of interest using qPCR, with n=5 for each treatment group and Sham-operated rats. Renal tissues stored at -80^oC were thawed and then immediately homogenized with a mechanical homogenizer. Total RNA was isolated using RNeasy® Mini Kit (Qiagen, Toronto, Canada) and reverse transcribed into cDNA using OneScript® Plus cDNA synthesis Kit (ABM, Canada) in

conjunction with $oligo(dT)_{12-18}$ primers as per manufacturer protocol. Isolated RNA were analysed via nanodrop (DeNovix DS-11 Spectrophotometer, Canada) before use, with $A_{260/280}$ ratings consistently > 1.95 and > 1.8 respectively. The reaction mixture of each qPCR sample had a volume of 20uL and was made as per Blastaq® Green 2X qPCR Master Mix (ABM, Canada) protocol and analyzed using CFX Connect Real-Time PCR Detection System machine (Bio-Rad, Canada). Primer sequences were designed using Primer-BLAST software (NCBI) against beta-actin, poly [ADP-ribose] polymerase 1 (PARP1), interferon gamma (IFN-y), tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin 6 (IL-6), Bcell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2), Bcl-2-associated X protein (BAX), caspase 3, BH3 interactingdomain death agonist (BID), c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1/2 (JNK1/2), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1 alpha (PGC-1 α), mitochondria complex I (NDUFB8), mitochondria complex II (SDHB), mitogen-activated protein kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2), nuclear factor-erythroid factor 2 (Nrf2), lipocalin-2 (NGAL), and kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1) genes are shown in Table 1. All genes of interest were normalized against beta-actin. Fold changes of gene expression were compared to Shamoperated rats and were calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method.

2.7 Statistical analysis

Survival data were analysed using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and all other data were analysed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test performed using the GraphPad (La Jolla, CA) Prism statistical software package, version 9.0. Statistical significance was accepted at p < 0.05.

Table 1. List of qPCR primer sequences

Primer	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$
β-actin Forward	CCGCGAGTACAACCTTCTTG
β-actin Reverse	CGTCATCCATGGCGAACTGG
PARP Forward	TTGACTATGGCCAGGACGAA
PARP Reverse	CCAAAGTCATGGGGGGATGAG
IFN- γ Forward	AGTTCGAGGTGAACAACCCACAG
IFN- γ Reverse	ATCAGCACCGACTCCTTTTCCG
TNF- α Forward	TTCGGGGTGATCGGTCCCAAC
TNF- α Reverse	TGGTGGTTTGCTACGACGTGG
IL-6 Forward	TTTCTCTCCGCAAGAGACTTC
IL-6 Reverse	GGTCTGTTGTGGGTGGTATC
BCL-2 Forward	TCATGTGTGTGGAGAGCGTC
BCL-2 Reverse	AGTTCCACAAAGGCATCCCAG
BAX Forward	CGTCTGCGGGGGAGTCAC
BAX Reverse	CGATCCTGGATGAAACCCTGT
Caspase-3 Forward	GAGCTTGGAACGCGAAGAAA
Caspase-3 Reverse	GCCCATTTCAGGGTAATCCA
BID Forward	TGTCGGTCGGCAAACCTCTG
BID Reverse	GCCATTGCTGACCTCAGAGTCC

JNK1 Forward	AGCCGGCCATTTCAGAATCA
JNK1 Reverse	CTCTCGCCTGACTGGCTTTA
JNK2 Forward	CAAGGAATTGTTTGTGCTGCTT
JNK2 Reverse	ACAGGACTTTATGGAGGACCA
PGC-1a Forward	GAGGGACGAATACCGCAGAG
PGC-1a Reverse	CTCTCAGTTCTGTCCGCGTT
NDUFB8 Forward	GGAGAGCCTTCCACATGACC
NDUFB8 Reverse	ATCTGGGTACGGCTCGTAGT
SDHB Forward	GCAGGCTTATCGCTGGATGA
SDHB Reverse	CTGGATTCAGACCCTTGGGG
ERK1 Forward	GCCCGAAACTACCTACAGTC
ERK1 Reverse	CTCAGCCACTGGTTCATCTG
ERK2 Forward	GATCTTAAATTGGTCAGGACAAGG
ERK2 Reverse	CCAACAGATGGCGTGTAAGT
NGAL Forward	GACTACGACCAGTTTGCCAT
NGAL Reverse	CCCCTTGGTTCTTCCGTACA
KIM1 Forward	GTGCTATTTTACCCAGGAGGA
KIM1 Reverse	GGACTTGTGGGAATTTCTGGTTTA
Nrf2 Forward	TGTAGATGACCATGAGTCGC

Nrf2 Reverse

Chapter 3

3 Results

3.1 STS-supplemented serum free media improves renal tubular epithelial cell survival in a dose-dependent manner during cold hypoxia and reoxygenation

Flow cytometry analysis after staining for apoptosis and necrosis showed that NRK-52E cells treated with SF during in vitro cold IRI exhibited significantly decreased cellular viability (p < 0.05) compared to control (normoxic) cells. A dose-dependent increase in the percentage of unstained viable cells was evident as the concentration of STS added to serum free media was increased (Figure 4A and 4B). While all the experimental samples exhibited lower renal tubular epithelial cell viability (p < 0.05) than cells grown in normoxic conditions, cells treated with SF supplemented with 150µM and 500µM STS exhibited significantly higher viability levels (p < 0.05) to 77 +/- 3% and 78 +/ 6% compared to serum free only treated cells whose viability levels remained at 41 +/- 8% (Figure 4B). The reverse trend was observed with apoptosis levels, where cells treated with SF supplemented with 150µM and 500µM STS exhibited significantly lower apoptosis levels (p < 0.05) to 26 +/- 3% and 24 +/ 7% compared to serum free only treated cells whose apoptosis levels remained at 57 +/- 9% (Figure 4C). Additionally, the dosedependent increase in viability and decrease in apoptosis appear to reach optimum levels with 150µM STS and the addition of higher doses of STS begins to reverse these trends (Figure 4B and 4C).





Annexin V (FITC, apoptosis)



Figure 4: STS supplementation improves renal tubular epithelial cell survival in a dose-dependent manner during a model of cold ischemia reperfusion injury (IRI). Cellular viability levels of rat kidney epithelial (NRK-52E; ATCC) cells following cold IRI. Control cells (Control: Serum Media) were cultured in DMEM containing 10% FBS and 1% P/S at normal growth conditions of 37°C, 21% O₂, and 5% CO₂. Experimental cells were treated with either DMEM without FBS (SF alone), SF supplemented with 200nm AP39 or SF supplemented with different concentrations of STS. The experimental cells were exposed to cold $(10^{\circ}C)$ hypoxia for 24h, followed by reoxygenation for 24h in conditions identical to control cells. Following reoxygenation, cells were stained with 7-AAD and FITC-Annexin-V for flow cytometry to quantify necrosis and apoptosis respectively. All data were analyzed using FlowJo V11. (A) Representative images of flow cytometry results. (B) Mean cell viability % (n=5) as determined by ratio of cells negative for 7-AAD and FITC-Annexin-V staining. (C) Mean apoptosis % (n=5) determined by ratio of cells stained positive for FITC-Annexin-V and negative for 7-AAD. Bars indicate mean ± SEM. Means were analyzed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post-hoc test. * P < 0.05 vs SF only, $\dagger P < 0.05$ vs Serum Media. ANOVA, analysis of variance; STS, sodium thiosulfate; SF, serum free media.
3.2 STS treatment improves early graft survival and function

To understand the protective potential of STS against cold IRI in vivo, we injected 150µM STS into UW solution during cold storage before undergoing rat renal transplantation. Animals that received grafts treated with STS during 24h cold storage exhibited significantly improved survival (p < 0.05) compared to those receiving UW-treated grafts, particularly in the first 3 days (Figure 5A). While UW-treated animals exhibited only 12.5% survival at POD 3, STS-treated animals exhibited 83% survival at POD 3 and still maintained the same survival rate by the end of the 14-day time course (Figure 5A). Blood and urine samples were collected on days 3, 5, 7, 10, and 14. STS treatment markedly improved graft function during the early post-transplant period compared to UW treatment. Both treatment groups exhibited significantly increased serum creatinine levels (p < 0.05) at POD 3 compared to Sham (Figure 5B). STS-treated animals showed a decline in serum creatinine levels to 219µmol/L compared to UW-treated animals whose serum creatinine remained at 442μ mol (p<0.05) on POD 3. Interestingly, the serum creatinine level of STStreated animals decreased towards baseline (Sham) until time of sacrifice at day 14, when it was comparable to that of Sham (Figure 5B). Both treatment groups exhibited significantly increase blood urea nitrogen levels (p < 0.05) at POD 3 compared to Sham (Figure 5C). STS-treated animals showed a decline in blood urea nitrogen levels to 56 mmol/L /L compared to UW-treated animals whose blood urea nitrogen level remained at 106 mmol/L (p<0.05) on POD 3. . Notably, the blood urea nitrogen level of STS-treated animals decreased towards baseline (Sham) until time of sacrifice at day 14, when it was comparable to that of Sham at POD 7 and onwards (Figure 5C).





Figure 5: STS improves renal graft survival and function following 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation. Survival rates (A) of renal transplant recipients receiving donor kidneys perfused and stored in UW solution only (UW; black dashed line) or UW solution plus 150uM STS (STS; blue line) as well as Sham-operated rats (Sham; black line). UW (n=8), UW+STS (n=6), Sham (n=5). Serum creatinine levels (B) and blood urea nitrogen levels (C) of renal transplant recipients receiving donor kidneys perfused and stored in UW solution only (UW; black diamond) or UW solution plus 150uM STS (UW+STS; white triangle) as well as Sham-operated rats (Sham; gray circle). Survival data analyzed via Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and log rank test. Serum creatinine and BUN data analyzed via one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post-hoc test. Lines indicate mean serum creatinine and BUN. Note: only one UW rat survived to day 14. *p<0.05 vs UW, $\dagger p<0.05$ vs Sham. ANOVA, analysis of variance; STS, sodium thiosulfate; UW, University of Wisconsin.

3.3 STS supplementation improves urine osmolality and induces diuresis after renal transplantation

To investigate the role of STS in total urine output and urine concentration, urine was collected on days 3, 5, 7, 10, and 14 after a cold IRI renal transplantation model *in vivo*. Both treatment groups UW and STS exhibited significantly decreased urine osmolality (p < 0.05) at POD 3 compared to Sham (Figure 6A). Animals that received grafts treated with STS during 24h cold storage exhibited urine osmolality levels that increased towards baseline (Sham) until time of sacrifice on day 14, although it was still statistically significant compared to Sham. STS led to an increase in urine output from 10 +/- 1mL to 32 +/- 5mL, 23 +/- 4mL, and 17 +/- 5mL following transplantation (p<0.05) during the first three collection periods compared with Sham-operated rats (Figure 6B). Interestingly, the mean urine output of STS-treated animals decreased towards baseline (Sham) until time of sacrifice at day 14, when it was comparable to that of Sham (Figure 6B).





Α



Figure 6: STS supplementation improves urine osmolality and induces diuresis after renal transplantation. Urine osmolality levels (A) of renal transplant recipients after receiving donor kidneys perfused and stored in UW solution only (UW: black diamond) or UW solution plus 150uM STS (UW+STS: white triangle). Osmolality levels were measured using the Model 3320 Osmometer and normalized to company provided standards. Red dash line indicates mean Sham osmolality levels. Urine output levels (B) of renal transplant recipients after receiving donor kidneys perfused and stored in UW solution plus 150uM STS (UW+STS: white triangle) and sham-operated rats (Sham: gray circle). Urine outputs were measured through use of metabolic cages. Note: only one UW rat (UW: black diamond) survived to day 14 and produced urine. Values are mean (SEM). $\dagger P < 0.05$ vs Sham. STS, sodium thiosulfate; UW, University of Wisconsin.

3.4 STS treatment mitigates donor kidney apoptosis and necrosis after renal transplantation

Renal sections obtained at POD 3 and 14 were stained with TUNEL as a measure of apoptotic cell death and scored by a blinded pathologist (Figure 7A). It was revealed that while UW-treated grafts exhibited significantly elevated (p < 0.05) levels of apoptosis as indicated by higher TUNNEL score compared to Sham at POD 3, apoptosis level in UW+STS kidneys were not significantly different compared to Sham at the same time point and at POD 14 (Figure 7B). In addition, UW+STS grafts exhibited significantly decreased (p < 0.05) apoptosis levels to 5% compared to UW-treated grafts whose apoptosis levels remained at 24% following transplantation at POD 3 (Figure 7B).

Renal sections obtained at POD 3 and 14 were stained with H&E and showed that UW+STS grafts exhibited decreased ATN scores at POD 3 (p < 0.05) compared to UW (Figure 8). Both treatment groups showed significantly increased ATN scores (p < 0.05) at POD 3 compared to Sham (Figure 8). Also, whereas only one recipient of UW grafts survived to POD 14, and hence their ATN scores could not be determined on POD 14, those of UW+STS grafts survived on POD 14 but showed significantly increased ATN scores ATN scores compared to Sham group (Figure 8; p < 0.05).



Figure 7: STS mitigates renal graft apoptosis after 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation. (A) Representative images show apoptosis in renal graft sections stored in UW only and UW + 150uM STS for 24 hours at 4C, and sham operated sections. Brown areas indicate fragmented DNA; 10x magnification. (B) Corresponding digital analysis show percent area of sections positive for TUNEL. Threshold limits were 0 lower/130 upper bytes. Sections were obtained at POD 3 (UW, n=5; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5) and at POD 14 (UW, n=1; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5). Line indicates mean TUNEL % area. * P < 0.05 vs UW day 3, † P < 0.05 vs Sham day 3. POD, postoperative day; STS, sodium thiosulfate; TUNEL, terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling; UW, University of Wisconsin.



Figure 8: STS mitigates renal graft necrosis scores after 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation. Representative graph show ATN in renal graft sections stored in UW only and UW + 150uM STS for 24 hours at 4C, and sham operated sections. ATN scores were assigned to H&E sections, including 0 - 0% graft ATN, 1 – less than 10%, 2 – 11% to 25%, 3 – 26% to 45%, 4 – 46% to 75%, and 5 – greater than 75%. Sections were obtained at POD 3 (UW, n=5; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5) and at POD 14 (UW, n=1; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5). Line indicates mean H&E score. * p < 0.05 vs UW day 3, † p < 0.05 vs Sham POD 3. ATN, acute tubular necrosis; POD, postoperative day; STS, sodium thiosulfate; UW, University of Wisconsin.

3.5 STS treated kidneys exhibited decreased injury markers and inflammatory infiltrate after renal transplantation

To determine the effect of STS treatment on renal graft injury, renal sections obtained at POD 3 and 14 were stained with kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1) (Figure 9A) to detect proximal tubular injury and revealed that while UW-treated grafts exhibited significantly elevated (p < 0.05) levels of KIM-1 expression compared to Sham at POD 3, KIM-1 expression level in STS-treated kidneys were not significantly different compared to Sham at the same time point and at day 14 (Figure 9B). In addition, STS-treated grafts exhibited significantly decreased (p < 0.05) KIM-1 levels to 3% compared to UW-treated grafts whose KIM-1 levels remained at 21% following transplantation at POD 3 (Figure 9B).

Renal grafts obtained at POD 3 and 14 were immunohistochemically stained with antibodies against macrophage marker CD68 (Figure 10A) and neutrophil marker myeloperoxidase (MPO) (Figure 11A). UW-treated grafts exhibited significantly increased (p < 0.05) numbers of both CD68-positive and MPO-positive cells compared with Shamoperated rats at POD 3, while STS-treated grafts showed significantly fewer (p < 0.05) numbers of CD68-positive and MPO-positive cells at day 3 post transplantation, compared with UW-treated grafts (Figure 10B and 11B). STS led to a decrease in CD68 area stain from 20% to 4% and a decrease in MPO area stain from 18% to 3% following transplantation on POD 3.



Figure 9: STS mitigates renal graft expression of KIM-1 after 24h cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation. Representative images (A) show immunohistochemical staining for renal biomarker of injury KIM-1 (brown areas) of renal graft sections stored in UW only and UW + 150uM STS for 24 hours at 4C, and sham operated sections; 10x magnification. (B) Corresponding digital analysis show percent area of sections positive for KIM-1. Threshold limits were 0 lower/110 upper bytes. Sections were obtained at POD 3 (UW, n=5; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5) and at POD 14 (UW, n=1; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5). Line indicates mean KIM-1 % area. * P < 0.05 vs UW day 3, † P < 0.05 vs Sham day 3. POD, postoperative day; STS, sodium thiosulfate; UW, University of Wisconsin.



Figure 10: STS decreases macrophage infiltrate in renal grafts after 24-hour cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation. Representative images (A) show immunohistochemical staining for macrophage marker CD68 of renal graft sections stored in UW only and UW + 150uM STS for 24 hours at 4C, and sham operated sections; 10x magnification. (B) Corresponding digital analysis show percent area of sections positive for CD68. Threshold limits were 0 lower/110 upper bytes. Sections were obtained at POD 3 (UW, n=5; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5) and at POD 14 (UW, n=1; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5). Line indicates mean CD68 % area. * P < 0.05 vs UW day 3, † P < 0.05 vs Sham day 3. POD, postoperative day; STS, sodium thiosulfate; UW, University of Wisconsin.



Figure 11: STS decreases neutrophil infiltrate in renal grafts after 24-hour cold organ storage and syngeneic renal transplantation. Representative images (A) show immunohistochemical staining for macrophage marker MPO of renal graft sections stored in UW only and UW + 150uM STS for 24 hours at 4C, and sham operated sections; 10x magnification. (B) Corresponding digital analysis show percent area of sections positive for MPO. Threshold limits were 0 lower/110 upper bytes. Sections were obtained at POD 3 (UW, n=5; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5) and at POD 14 (UW, n=1; UW+STS, n=5; Sham, n=5). Line indicates mean MPO % area. * P < 0.05 vs UW day 3, † P < 0.05 vs Sham day 3. POD, postoperative day; STS, sodium thiosulfate; UW, University of Wisconsin.

3.6 STS treated grafts modified renal expression of proinflammatory, pro-apoptotic, and mitochondrial markers

Renal expression of pro-inflammatory, pro-apoptotic, mitochondria targeted, and kidney injury markers was determined via qRT-PCR on kidneys obtained at day 3 posttransplantation. Genes were normalized against beta-actin and fold changes of gene expression were compared with Sham-operated rats. Expression of pro-inflammatory genes PARP, IFN-y, TNF- α and IL-6 were markedly decreased in STS-treated grafts, with IFN-y, TNF- α and IL-6 expression being significantly decreased compared with UWtreated grafts (p< 0.05, Figure 12A). Relative expression of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 was markedly increased in the STS group compared with that in the UW group, although this increase did not reach statistical significance (Figure 12A). Expression of pro-apoptotic genes BAX, caspase 3, BID, JNK1, and JNK2 were markedly decreased in STS-treated grafts, with BAX, caspase 3, and JNK2 expression being significantly decreased compared with UW-treated grafts (p < 0.05, Figure 12A). Expression of mitochondria genes peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator (PGC) 1a, NDUFB8 (complex I), SDHB (complex II), and nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) in STS-treated grafts were significantly increased compared with UW-treated grafts (p < 0.05, Figure 12B). Expression of anti-apoptotic genes ERK1 and ERK2 in STS-treated grafts were significantly increased compared with UW-treated grafts (p < 0.05, Figure 12B). Expression of kidney injury molecule KIM-1 in STS-treated grafts were significantly decreased compared with UW-treated grafts (p < 0.05, Figure 12C). Relative expression of kidney injury marker NGAL showed a decreasing trend in the STS group compared with that in the UW group, although this decrease did not reach statistical significance (Figure 12C).





Chapter 4

4 Discussion

When prolonged, ischemia reperfusion injury (IRI) is a substantial concern because renal IRI has been associated with acute graft rejection, delayed graft function, and early graft loss following renal transplantation [8,9]. This study establishes supplementation of standard preservation solution with sodium thiosulfate (STS), a clinically viable FDAapproved H₂S donor, to mitigate transplant-induced cold renal IRI, improve graft function and prolong graft survival. Using an *in vitro* model of renal IRI and rat model of syngeneic orthotopic kidney transplantation, we demonstrate for the first time that supplementation of University of Wisconsin (UW) solution with STS during prolonged cold storage is cytoand organ protective.

The primary findings in our *in vitro* model are that STS supplementation to serum free media protects renal epithelial cells from cold hypoxia and warm reoxygenationinduced apoptosis in a dose dependent manner (Figure 3A). Our findings were in agreement with previous studies where they showed the protective effects of the mitochondria-targeting H₂S donor drug, AP39, in an in vitro model of cold IRI [19]. Interestingly, a higher STS concentration of 1mM reversed the beneficial effects, implying that STS exhibits a biphasic dose-response phenomenon referred to as hormesis, in which a higher concentration is cytotoxic while a lower concentration is cytoprotective. Mitochondrial damage is a major consequence of renal IRI, as mitochondrial permeability can inhibit ATP production and increase ROS production, a devastating mediator of tissue injury [110]. It has been recently suggested that mitochondria are a primary site of STS activity. Not only is STS known to generate H_2S in the mitochondria via glutathionedependent reduction and vice versa via the sulfide oxidation pathway, recent studies have shown that STS can preserve mitochondrial ATP synthesis, decrease ROS production, and improve ETC complex enzyme activities [80,84,96,103]. In addition, recent studies showed that STS significantly increased the expression of PGC-1 α , a positive regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis and ATP production [77, 104]. The improved mitochondrial enzyme activity and antioxidant protectiveness was supported by an increased expression of PGC-1 α in the rat hearts treated with STS, compared to non-treated hearts [104]. These

findings are consistent with our qPCR results, which showed that STS treated grafts had significantly elevated expression of PGC-1 α compared to UW grafts. Interestingly, both STS and PGC-1 α can activate nuclear factor erythroid-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a transcription factor known to have antioxidant characteristics [77, 111]. Under normal circumstances, Keap1 proteins captures Nrf2 and holds it in the cytoplasm [111]. However, the reactive sulfur atom of STS triggers a sulfhydration reaction and forces Keap1 to undergo a structural change, leading to the release of Nrf2 and its translocation into the nucleus in order to bind to antioxidant response elements (ARE) to induce expression of numerous antioxidant gene clusters [112-114]. The elevated antioxidants are responsible for protecting against lipid peroxidation and maintaining redox balance [115]. Therefore, Nrf2 can be considered as a negative regulator of ferroptosis and promoter of resistance against ferroptotic cell death. These findings reflect our qPCR results, where STS-treated grafts exhibited significantly elevated expression of Nrf2 compared to UW grafts. These observations may be the reason why STS treated grafts had significantly increased expression of mitochondrial ETC complex I- II as well has increased graft survival and function compared to UW grafts. Overall, these results show that STS therapy is effective

Based on the *in vitro* results, we decided to investigate the effects of STS in an *in vivo* murine model of cold renal syngeneic transplantation-associated IRI. Our findings show, for the first time, that treatment of donor kidneys with STS during prolonged cold (4^oC) storage significantly improved graft function, shown by decreased serum creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) levels, higher urine output and prolonged recipient survival compared to kidneys stored in UW solution alone. The observed improvement in renal function after transplantation of grafts preserved in STS-supplemented UW solution conferred a significant survival advantage. Quantitatively, STS treatment prolonged the life of the graft such that 83% of STS treated animals survived from POD 6 and onwards compared to only 12.5% of UW treated animals. Our model of renal transplantation IRI involved an extreme (24 hours) period of cold ischemia, which previous studies have shown to be associated with a survival rate of 14% when stored in UW solution alone and is shown by the observation that only one UW animal in our study survived until POD 14

against cold IRI in vitro, which may be due to its numerous protective characteristics of

mitigating ROS, enabling mitochondrial biogenesis and mitigating cellular apoptosis.

[62]. Our study showing that STS increases renal graft survival after an extreme period of cold organ storage when UW solution alone was not sufficient to preserve the graft organ, is an important clinical observation. The length of cold IRI is proportional to the incidence of DGF as well as decreased long-term graft survival [35]. Considering that previous studies have shown that the risk for DGF rose significantly for donor kidneys experiencing >22 hours of cold ischemia, the consequences of lengthy cold storage time on renal graft survival and function are a real clinical concern [116]. It is important to note that the immediacy of urine output after clinical transplantation is a critical outcome which determines whether dialysis is required to address delayed graft function (DGF). Thus, our findings that STS increases urine output immediately after transplantation that is comparable to the Sham group on POD 14 is a promising finding. Thus, the future benefit of adding STS to preservation solutions may present a potential solution to this ongoing issue.

Histological staining studies showed that STS treatment significantly decreased apoptosis and acute tubular necrosis (ATN) compared with UW treatment alone, which is likely a mechanism by which STS improves graft survival and function. We also found that STS treatment significantly improved the up-regulation in renal graft expression of the anti-apoptotic gene ERK1/2 and significantly decreased expression of pro-apoptotic gene BAX, caspase 3, and JNK2. This observation may explain the decreased levels of apoptosis in STS-treated renal grafts compared to UW treated grafts observed via TUNEL staining. Our findings also concur with recent evidence that showed how STS treatment can counteract multiple pro-apoptotic mechanisms. Mechanistically, STS can inactivate caspase-3 by preventing access of natural substrate to the active site by attaching to the active site of caspase-3 via strong hydrogen bonds, ultimately halting apoptosis [106]. STS also inhibits phosphorylation of JNK, a protein that is upregulated by inflammatory cytokines plays a critical role in apoptotic signaling [112]. Although it was not statistically significant, treatment with STS slightly reduced pro-apoptotic genes BID and JNK1 and slightly mitigated anti-apoptotic gene BCL-2. A recent study by Chou et al. investigated the role of STS on renal apoptosis-related mechanism and found that STS treatment significantly reduced renal BAX expression compared to the non-treatment group, which aligns with our findings [117]. Interestingly, the renal Bcl-2 expression in STS treatment

group had an elevated trend compared to non-treatment group, which also supports our finding [117]. Other studies showed that STS treatment prevented the reduction of Bcl-2 compared to non-treatment groups and could also elevate Bcl-2 expression via activation of Nrf2-dependent signaling, contrasting our observations [106, 112]. This discrepancy may be attributed to insufficient time for the modulation of Bcl-2 transcription to show as increased protein translation prior to analyzing it. Further immunohistochemical analysis of renal graft injury showed that STS reduced expression of KIM-1, an important biomarker that provide additional sensitive assessment of early renal injury along with apoptosis and ATN [118, 119]. This observation also concurs with our findings of significantly decreased expression of KIM-1 in STS treated grafts compared to UW grafts. Being a type 1 transmembrane protein, KIM-1 expression level is significantly elevated in the proximal tubule in patients with post-ischemic kidney [120, 121]. Mechanistically, ischemia initiates phosphorylation and translocation of STAT3 to the nucleus, which binds to the KIM-1 promoter and elevates its mRNA and protein levels [118, 122]. During cold IRI, the KIM-1 ectodomain, which is comprised of an immunoglobulin and a mucin domain, sheds and is subsequently secreted into the urine and blood [121]. In a recent study by Han et al., they showed that ischemic ATN was the most common predisposing factor for elevation of KIM-1 protein [123], which supports our findings that STS-treated kidneys exhibited lower ATN scores and thus, a lower KIM-1 expression level. Although it was not statistically significant, grafts treated with STS exhibited slightly reduced expression of NGAL, another important kidney injury biomarker, compared to UW grafts [124]. These findings are not surprising as previous studies have shown that decreased levels of KIM-1 and NGAL are associated with less renal graft injury and longer graft survival [124].

As discussed earlier, a potential mechanism by which STS improves graft survival and function is the reduction of apoptosis and necrosis during cold IRI. A mediator of such apoptotic and necrotic tissue injury is the subsequent surge in inflammatory cytokines and activation of immune system [125]. This study found significant reduction in CD68positive macrophages and MPO-positive neutrophils present in STS treated renal grafts compared to UW grafts as well as significant downregulation of pro-inflammatory genes IFN-y and TNF- α . These inflammatory cytokines and recruitment of the innate immune system are known to be mediators of cell death during cold IRI [17], and their reduction in UW+STS grafts is likely attributed to the well-known characteristics of STS to decrease the endothelial permeability in vascular endothelial monolayer, attenuate TNFα-induced cytokine production, and elicit production of anti-inflammatory cytokines [90]. In addition, the downregulation of pro-inflammatory gene IL-6 was observed in the STS group relative to the UW group, which matches the findings of a previous study on the anti-inflammatory activity of STS by reducing levels of TNF- α and IL-6 in neurological diseases [126, 127]. IL-6 is a key proinflammatory cytokine in its role in acute kidney injury [128], and its downregulation by STS may contribute to the improved graft survival and function of the STS treated grafts compared to the UW grafts. A proposed mechanism of how STS exerts its cytoprotective effects in prolonged cold renal IRI in transplantation is shown in Figure 13.

The *in vitro* cold renal IRI model is a relevant model to investigate the protective effects of STS-supplemented UW solution during hypoxic storage, followed by reperfusion [129]. The use of this model allowed us to induce a hypoxic $(0.05\% O_2)$ environment with the use of a hypoxic chamber (HypOxystation H85, USA) for 24 hours to mimic a prolonged cold storage time that we might see clinically today. A major limitation of this model is that the temperature of cold storage is 10° C, whereas the current standard preservation method for SCS utilizes 4^oC [34]. However, 10^oC was the lowest temperature that could be technologically achieved without jeopardizing the hypoxic environment. A potential solution is to use chemically induced hypoxia in a plastic bag and place it in a 4[°]C fridge in order to reflect clinical settings of SCS. However, these anaerobic atmosphere generation bags were designed to be used at warm temperatures (21°C-37°C) since the chemical compounds that induce the hypoxic environment functions under that condition [130]. Future studies will be aimed at optimizing the temperature in the hypoxia chamber to mimic clinical SCS settings. Achieving a consistent temperature of 4^oC without sacrificing a hypoxic environment will allow us to determine whether the observed phenotypes in the experimental *in vitro* cold IRI model are consistently expressed. Another limitation to this model was adding STS to serum free (SF) media for treating cold ischemia, which does not reflect the current gold standard preservation solution for SCS of kidneys: UW solution [48]. Interestingly, other studies with a similar *in vitro* model of SCS against renal IRI also chose to utilize other solutions for preservation, such as SF or PBS



Figure 13: Proposed mechanism of action of STS in prolonged cold renal IRI in transplantation. Thiosulfate ($S_2O_3^{2-}$) is produced from hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) via the sulfide oxidation pathway. We propose that thiosulfate acts by attenuating inflammatory cytokines and pro-inflammatory genes, leading to decreased recruitment of innate immune system. Thiosulfate also increase expression of PGC-1 α , a positive regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis and ATP production. Nuclear translocation of phosphorylated Nrf2 binds ARE and promotes expression of anti-apoptotic and antioxidative genes, ultimately leading to decreased ROS production and cell injury.

49

[62]. This could be due to the irony that UW solution is doing its protective job too well during SCS against renal IRI, thus it's hard to display a change in cell viability from treatment groups vs. non-treatment groups. In addition to measuring apoptosis and necrosis with flow cytometry, future studies will use JC-1, a stain that quantifies mitochondrial membrane permeability [131] since mitochondrial dysfunction is an fundamental part of renal IRI.

The rat *in vivo* model of cold IRI is a relevant model to investigate the protective effects of STS on kidney survival and function following renal transplantation. It mimics a human kidney donor-recipient transplantation in a clinical setting and allows us to analyze urine and blood data. However, a drawback is that our model involves syngeneic transplantation, meaning that the donor and recipient rats are genetically identical and are thus, immunologically compatible as to allow for transplantation. This syngeneic concept only applies to identical twins, whereas most of the renal transplantations that are done clinically have the donor and recipient being genetically different. This forces patients to undergo immunological tests prior to transplantation to identify the donor's HLA antigens and determine if the donor and recipient are compatible [132]. These tests are done to avoid the recruitment of both the innate and adaptive recipient immune response against the kidney allograft due to mismatched antigens present on donor tissue, ultimately resulting in increased graft injury and lowered graft survival compared to syngeneic transplantation [133]. Future studies will be aimed at determining the effect of STS on an *in vivo* cold IRI model of renal allogeneic transplantation. Another limitation to this model was the duration of SCS being 24 hours, which represented a prolonged cold IRI period reflecting the organ being transported from one transplant center to another. On the other hand, if the living donor and recipient were in the same building, the cold storage time would be diminished to 4-6 hours. Thus, future studies should explore the protective effects of STS on cold renal IRI with various timepoints for SCS prior to transplanting the kidney in the recipient to mimic clinical settings. Finally, another limitation in this model is that it only focused on living donors, whereas in the clinical setting sub-optimal grafts from donation after cardiac death (DCD) donors are being accepted for usage more frequently to increase the supply of donor kidneys [134]. DCD donors exposes donor organs to various periods of warm ischemia in addition to cold ischemia times during SCS and is associated with increased

rates of delayed graft function (DGF) and decreased graft survival compared to living donors [2]. Future studies will be aimed at incorporating a warm ischemic time in the *in vivo* rat kidney transplantation model to assess STS on treating DCD kidneys that are more susceptible to damage associated with IRI.

In conclusion, our results show a novel discovery which demonstrates that supplementation of standard preservation solution with a clinically viable H₂S donor drug during prolonged SCS of renal grafts protects against transplant-induced cold renal IRI. We have shown that STS treatment improves overall graft quality and graft function and prolongs transplant recipient survival. Furthermore, these protective effects of STS appear to be mitochondria-targeted and mediated by antioxidant, anti-apoptotic, and antiinflammatory mechanisms. Considering that the risk of DGF increases with prolonged cold ischemic time in clinical kidney transplantation, which raises a major clinical concern, the discovery that STS protects renal grafts during prolonged SCS and prevents DGF after transplantation provides a great clinical promise that could decrease or prevent the incidence of DGF in clinical kidney transplantation. Thus, the future benefit of adding STS to preservation solutions may present a potential solution to this ongoing issue. Overall, this study adds to the growing body of literature that supports the cytoprotective effects of STS against organ IRI, particularly improving graft outcomes in prolonged transplantinduced cold kidney IRI. These strategies could facilitate the use of more grafts exposed to prolonged cold ischemic times, which could increase the pool of transplantable organs.

Appendices



Appendix A 1: STS helps improve early renal graft function and decreases apoptosis and inflammation following prolonged SCS and kidney transplantation.

Time (Days)

Supplemental Figure 1: STS helps improve early renal graft function and decreases apoptosis and inflammation following prolonged SCS and kidney transplantation. Summary of data containing urine, blood, and graft sections obtained on POD 3. Serum creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) levels were obtained from blood on day 3. Kidney sections obtained on day 3 were stained with TUNEL, H&E, KIM-1, CD68, and MPO to measure apoptosis, necrosis, and inflammation respectively. Data are mean \pm SEM. * p < 0.05 vs UW day 3, † p < 0.05 vs Sham POD 3.

References

- Drawz P, Rahman M. Chronic kidney disease. *Ann Intern Med.* 2015;162(11):ITC1-ITC16.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Canadian Organ Replacement Register Annual Report: Treatment of End-Stage Organ Failure in Canada, 2010 to 2019. Ottawa, ON: CIHI; 2019
- Passon S, Uthoff S, Jäckle-Meyer I. Impacts on dialysis therapy. *EDTNA ERCA J*. 1998;24(2):52-57.
- Pastan S, Bailey J. Dialysis therapy. N Engl J Med 1998 May 14;338(20):1428-1437.
- Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Knoll G, Bello A, Browne S, Jadhav D, et al. Systematic review: kidney transplantation compared with dialysis in clinically relevant outcomes. Am J Transplant 2011 Oct;11(10):2093-2109.
- United States Renal Data System. 2019 USRDS annual data report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. : National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD; 2019.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. e-Statistics Report on Transplant, Waiting List and Donor Statistics, 2019. Ottawa, ON: CIHI; 2020.
- Dorweiler B, Pruefer D, Andrasi TB, Maksan SM, Schmiedt W, Neufang A, Vahl CF. Ischemia- reperfusion injury. *European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery*. 2007;33(6):600-612.
- 9. A. Kezic, I. Spasojevic, V. Lezaic, and M. Bajcetic, "Mitochondria-targeted antioxidants: future perspectives in kidney ischemia reperfusion injury," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*. 2016; 2950503, 12.
- Kowaltowski AJ, Castilho RF, Grijalba MT, Bechara EJ, Vercesi AE. Effect of inorganic phosphate concentration on the nature of inner mitochondrial membrane alterations mediated by Ca2+ ions. A proposed model for phosphate-stimulated lipid peroxidation. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271(6):2929-2934.
- 11. Thomas DD, Heinecke JL, Ridnour LA, Cheng RY, Kesarwala AH, Switzer CH, McVicar DW, Roberts DD, Glynn S, Fukuto JM, Wink DA, Miranda KM. Signaling and stress: the redox landscape in NOS2 biology. *Free Radic Biol Med.*

2015; 87: 204-225.

- 12. Becker LB. New concepts in reactive oxygen species and cardiovascular reperfusion physiology. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2004; 61:461–70.
- Martinou JC, Green DR. Breaking the mitochondrial barrier. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2001;2(1):63-67.
- McCully JD, Wakiyama H, Hsieh YJ, Jones M, Levitsky S. Differential contribution of necrosis and apoptosis in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2004;286(5):H1923-H1935.
- 15. Yang N, Luo M, Li R, Huang Y, Zhang R, Wu Q. et al. Blockage of JAK/STAT signalling attenuates renal ischaemia-reperfusion injury in rats. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* 2008;23:91–100.
- 16. Voss A, Bode G, Kerkhoff C. Double-Stranded RNA Induces IL-8 and MCP-1 Gene Expression via TLR3 in HaCaT-Keratinocytes. *Inflammation & Allergy-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-Inflammation Allergy)* 2012;11:397–405.
- 17. Patel NS, Chatterjee PK, Di Paola R, Mazzon E, Britti D, De Sarro A. et al. Endogenous interleukin-6 enhances the renal injury, dysfunction, and inflammation caused by ischemia/reperfusion. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2005;312:1170–8.
- Donnahoo KK, SHAMES BD, HARKEN AH, MELDRUM DR. Review article: the role of tumor necrosis factor in renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Urol. 1999;162:196–203.
- 19. Sheridan AM, Bonventre JV. Cell biology and molecular mechanisms of injury in ischemic acute renal failure. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. 2000;9:427–34.
- 20. Linas S, Whittenburg D, Repine JE. Nitric oxide prevents neutrophil-mediated acute renal failure. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Fluid and Electrolyte Physiology*. 1997;41:F48.
- Malek M, Nematbakhsh M. Renal ischemia/reperfusion injury; from pathophysiology to treatment. *J Renal Inj Prev.* 2015;4(2):20-27. Published 2015 Jun 1. doi:10.12861/jrip.2015.06

- Kaminski KA, Bonda TA, Korecki J, Musial WJ. Oxidative stress and neutrophil activation—the two keystones of ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Int J Cardiol.* 2002;86:41–59.
- 23. Li J, Cao F, Yin HL, et al. Ferroptosis: past, present and future. *Cell Death Dis*. 2020;11(2):88.
- 24. Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, et al. Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. *Cell*. 2012;149(5):1060-1072.
- 25. Linkermann A, Skouta R, Himmerkus N, et al. Synchronized renal tubular cell death involves ferroptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2014;111(47):16836-16841.
- 26. Martin-Sanchez D, Ruiz-Andres O, Poveda J, et al. Ferroptosis, but Not Necroptosis, Is Important in Nephrotoxic Folic Acid-Induced AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(1):218-229.
- Jun W, Benjanuwattra J, Chattipakorn SC, Chattipakorn N. Necroptosis in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury: A major mode of cell death?. *Arch Biochem Biophys*. 2020;689:108433.
- 28. He S, Wang L, Miao L, et al. Receptor interacting protein kinase-3 determines cellular necrotic response to TNF-alpha. *Cell*. 2009;137(6):1100-1111.
- 29. Liu SS, Chen YY, Wang SX, Yu Q. Protective effect of dabrafenib on renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in vivo and in vitro. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. 2020;522(2):395-401.
- Maathuis M, Leuvenink H, Ploeg R. Perspectives in organ preservation. Transplantation 2007; 83: 1289–1298
- Opelz G, Dohler B. Multicenter analysis of kidney preservation. Transplantation. 2007; 83: 247–253.
- 32. Bond M, Pitt M, Akoh J, Moxham T, Hoyle M, Anderson R. The effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of methods of storing donated kidneys from deceased donors: A systematic review and economic model. Health Technol Assess 2009; 13(38).
- Morris PJ. Kidney Transplantation, Principles and Practice. s.l.: 6th ed. Saunders, Elsevier; 2008:126e127

- 34. Xiaodong Y, Ashok JT. Machine perfusion or cold storage in organ transplantation: indication, mechanisms, and future prospectives. s.l.: Transpl Int. 2010;23:561e570
- 35. Salahudeen AK, Haider N, May W. Cold ischemia and the reduced long-term survival of cadaveric renal allografts. Kidney Int 2004; 65: 713–718
- 36. Quiroga I, McShane P, Koo DD, et al. Major effects of delayed graft function and cold ischaemia time on renal allograft survival. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006; 21: 1689–1696
- 37. Kayler LK, Magliocca J, Zendejas I, Srinivas TR, Schold JD. Impact of cold ischemia time on graft survival among ECD transplant recipients: A paired kidney analysis. Am J Transplant 2011; 11: 2647–2656.
- Dragun D, Hoff U, Park JK, et al. Prolonged cold preservation augments vascular injury independent of renal transplant immunogenicity and function. Kidney Int 2001; 60: 1173–1181.
- 39. Hameed, A. M., Hawthorne, W. J., & Pleass, H. C. (2017). Advances in organ preservation for transplantation. *ANZ journal of surgery*, 87(12), 976-980.
- 40. Sedigh A, Tufveson G, Ba¨ckman L, et al. Initial experience with hypothermic machine perfusion of kidneys from deceased donors in the Uppsala region in Sweden. Transplant Proc 2013; 45:1168–1171.
- 41. Tozzi M, Franchin M, Soldini G, et al. Impact of static cold storage VS hypothermic machine preservation on ischemic kidney graft: inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules as markers of ischemia/reperfusion tissue damage. Our preliminary results. Int J Surg 2013; 11
- 42. Jiao B, Liu S, Liu H, et al. Hypothermic machine perfusion reduces delayed graft function and improves one-year graft survival of kidneys from expanded criteria donors: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2013; 8:e81826.
- 43. Wszola M, Kwiatkowski A, Domagala P, et al. Preservation of kidneys by machine perfusion influences gene expression and may limit ischemia/reperfusion injury. Prog Transplant 2014; 24:19–26
- 44. Jochmans I, O'Callaghan JM, Pirenne J, Ploeg RJ. Hypothermic machine perfusion of kidneys retrieved from standard and high-risk donors. Transpl. Int.

2015; 28: 665–76.

- 45. Balfoussia D, Yerrakalva D, Hamaoui K, Papalois V. Advances in machine perfusion graft viability assessment in kidney, liver, pancreas, lung, and heart transplant. Exp. Clin. Transplant. 2012; 10: 87–100.
- 46. van Smaalen TC, Hoogland ER, van Heurn LW. Machine perfusion viability testing. Curr. Opin. Organ Transplant. 2013; 18: 168–73
- 47. Moen J, Claesson K, Pienaar H, et al. Preservation of dog liver, kidney, and pancreas using the Belzer-UW solution with a high-sodium and low-potassium content. *Transplantation*. 1989;47(6):940-945.
- 48. Schneeberger S, Biebl M, Steurer W, et al. A prospective randomized multicenter trial comparing histidine-tryptophane-ketoglutarate versus University of Wisconsin perfusion solution in clinical pancreas transplantation. Transpl Int 2009; 22:217–224
- 49. Baatard R, Pradier F, et al. Prospective randomized comparison of University of Wisconsin and UW-modificated, lacking hydroxyethyl-starch, cold-storage solution in kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 1993;55:31e35.
- 50. Stewart ZA, Lonze BE, Warren DS, et al. Histidine-tryptophan ketoglutarate (HTK) is associated with reduced graft survival of deceased donor kidney transplants. Am J Transplant 2009; 9: 1048–1054
- 51. Bellamy CA, Nicely B, Mattice BJ, Teaster R. Comparative analysis of clinical efficacy and cost between University of Wisconsin solution and histidinetryptophan-ketoglutarate. Prog Transplant 2008; 18: 166–171
- 52. Groenewoud AF, Buchholz B, Gubernatis, et al. First results of the multicenter study of HTK protection for kidney transplants. Transplant Proc 1990; 22: 2212.
- 53. Testa G, Malago M, Nadalin S, et al. Histidine–tryptophan–ketoglutarate versus University of Wisconsin solution in living donor liver transplantation: results of a prospective study. Liver Transpl 2003; 9:822–826.
- 54. Stevens RB, Skorupa JY, Rigley TH, et al. Increased primary nonfunction in transplanted deceased-donor kidneys flushed with histidine–tryptophan– ketoglutarate solution. Am J Transplant 2009; 9:1055–1062

- 55. N. Shibuya, S. Koike, M. Tanaka, M. Ishigami-Yuasa, Y. Kimura, Y. Ogasawara, et al., A novel pathway for the production of hydrogen sulfide from D-cysteine in mammalian cells, Nat. Commun. 4; 2013: 1366.
- Blackstone E, Morrison M, Roth MB. H₂S induces a suspended animation-like state in mice. *Science*. 2005; 308(5721):518.
- 57. Y. Kimura, Y. Goto, H. Kimura, Hydrogen sulfide increases glutathione production and suppresses oxidative stress in mitochondria, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 12;2010: 1–13
- 58. M.A. Aminzadeh, N.D. Vaziri, Downregulation of the renal and hepatic hydrogen sulfide (H2S)-producing enzymes and capacity in chronic kidney disease, Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 27 2012 498–504.
- 59. Lobb I, Davison M, Carter D, Liu W, Haig A, Gunaratnam L, Sener A. Hydrogen sulfide treatment mitigates renal allograft ischemia-reperfusion injury during cold storage and improves early transplant kidney function and survival following allogeneic renal transplantation. The Journal of Urology. 2015;194(6):1806-1815.
- 60. Grewal J, Lobb I, Saha M, Haig A, Jiang J, Sener A. Mp29-16 hydrogen sulfide supplementation mitigates effects of ischemia reperfusion injury in a murine model of donation after cardiac death renal transplantation. The Journal of Urology. 2016;195(4):e386.
- 61. Lobb I, Zhu J, Liu W, Haig A, Lan Z, Sener A. Hydrogen sulfide treatment improves long-term renal dysfunction resulting from prolonged warm renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. Canadian Urological Association Journal. 2014;8(5-6):413.
- 62. Lobb I, Jiang J, Lian D, et al. Hydrogen Sulfide Protects Renal Grafts Against Prolonged Cold Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury via Specific Mitochondrial Actions. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(2):341-352.
- 63. Lobb I, Mok A, Lan Z, Liu W, Garcia B, Sener A. Supplemental hydrogen sulphide protects transplant kidney function and prolongs recipient survival after prolonged cold ischaemia-reperfusion injury by mitigating renal graft apoptosis and inflammation. British Journal of Urology International. 2012;110(11c):E1187-E1195.

- 64. Yu Z, Gu L, Pang H, Fang Y, Yan H, Fang W. Sodium thiosulfate: An emerging treatment for calciphylaxis in dialysis patients. Case Reports in Nephrology and Dialysis. 2015;5(1):77-82.
- 65. Bebarta VS, Brittain M, Chan A, et al. Sodium Nitrite and Sodium Thiosulfate Are Effective Against Acute Cyanide Poisoning When Administered by Intramuscular Injection. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2017;69(6):718-725.e4.
- Baskin SI, Horowitz AM, Nealley EW. The antidotal action of sodium nitrite and sodium thiosulfate against cyanide poisoning. *J Clin Pharmacol*. 1992; 32(4):368-75.
- 67. Tsang RY, Al-Fayea T, Au HJ. Cisplatin overdose: toxicities and management. *Drug Saf.* 2009;32(12):1109-1122.
- 68. Laplace N, Kepenekian V, Friggeri A, et al. Sodium thiosulfate protects from renal impairement following hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) with Cisplatin. *Int J Hyperthermia*. 2020;37(1):897-902.
- Goel R, Cleary SM, Horton C, et al. Effect of sodium thiosulfate on the pharmacokinetics and toxicity of cisplatin. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1989;81(20):1552-1560.
- 70. Freyer DR, Chen L, Krailo MD, et al. Effects of sodium thiosulfate versus observation on development of cisplatin-induced hearing loss in children with cancer (ACCL0431): a multicentre, randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial *The Lancet Oncol.* 2017;18(1):63-74.
- 71. Fennec Pharmaceuticals Receives Complete Response Letter from the FDA for its New Drug Application for PEDMARK[™] to Prevent Ototoxicity Associated with Cisplatin in Pediatric Patients with Localized, Non-Metastatic, Solid Tumors [news release]. Research Triangle Park, NC. Published August 11, 2020. Accessed August 11, 2020.
- Goel SK, Bellovich K, McCullough PA. Treatment of severe metastatic calcification and calciphylaxis in dialysis patients. *Int J Nephrol.* 2011; 2011:701603.
- 73. Strazzula L, Nigwekar SU, Steele D, et al. Intralesional sodium thiosulfate for the treatment of calciphylaxis. *JAMA Dermatol*. 2013;149(8):946-949.

- 74. Peng T, Zhuo L, Wang Y, et al. Systematic review of sodium thiosulfate in treating calciphylaxis in chronic kidney disease patients. *Nephrology (Carlton)*. 2018;23(7):669-675.
- 75. Yatzidis H. Successful sodium thiosulphate treatment for recurrent calcium urolithiasis. *Clin Nephrol*. 1985;23(2):63-67.
- 76. Hayden MR, Goldsmith DJ. Sodium thiosulfate: new hope for the treatment of calciphylaxis. *Semin Dial*. 2010;23(3):258-262.
- 77. Zhang MY, Dugbartey GJ, Juriasingani S, Sener A. Hydrogen Sulfide Metabolite, Sodium Thiosulfate: Clinical Applications and Underlying Molecular Mechanisms. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(12):6452.
- Hildebrandt TM, Grieshaber MK. Three enzymatic activities catalyze the oxidation of sulfide to thiosulfate in mammalian and invertebrate mitochondria. *FEBS J.* 2008;275(13):3352-3361.
- Westley J, Adler H, Westley L, Nishida C. The sulfurtransferases. *Fundam Appl Toxicol*. 1983;3(5):377-382.
- Kruithof PD, Lunev S, Aguilar Lozano SP, et al. Unraveling the role of thiosulfate sulfurtransferase in metabolic diseases. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* 2020;1866(6):165716.
- Jackson MR, Melideo SL, Jorns MS. Human sulfide:quinone oxidoreductase catalyzes the first step in hydrogen sulfide metabolism and produces a sulfane sulfur metabolite. *Biochemistry*. 2012;51(34):6804-6815.
- Bartholomew TC, Powell GM, Dodgson KS, Curtis CG. Oxidation of sodium sulphide by rat liver, lungs and kidney. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 1980;29(18):2431-2437.
- Libiad M, Yadav PK, Vitvitsky V, Martinov M, Banerjee R. Organization of the human mitochondrial hydrogen sulfide oxidation pathway. *J Biol Chem*. 2014;289(45):30901-30910.
- 84. Leskova A, Pardue S, Glawe JD, Kevil CG, Shen X. Role of thiosulfate in hydrogen sulfide-dependent redox signaling in endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2017;313(2):H256-H264.

- Olson KR, Deleon ER, Gao Y, et al. Thiosulfate: a readily accessible source of hydrogen sulfide in oxygen sensing. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*. 2013;305(6):R592-R603.
- 86. Bilska-Wilkosz A, Iciek M, Górny M, Kowalczyk-Pachel D. The Role of Hemoproteins: Hemoglobin, Myoglobin and Neuroglobin in Endogenous Thiosulfate Production Processes. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18(6):1315.
- Koike S, Ogasawara Y. Sulfur Atom in its Bound State Is a Unique Element Involved in Physiological Functions in Mammals. *Molecules*. 2016;21(12):1753.
- Iciek M, Włodek L. Biosynthesis and biological properties of compounds containing highly reactive, reduced sulfane sulfur. *Pol J Pharmacol*. 2001;53(3):215-225.
- 89. Umbreit J. Methemoglobin--it's not just blue: a concise review. *Am J Hematol*. 2007;82(2):134-144.
- 90. Sakaguchi M, Marutani E, Shin HS, et al. Sodium thiosulfate attenuates acute lung injury in mice. *Anesthesiology*. 2014;121(6):1248-1257.
- Olaoye OA, Koratala A. Calcific uremic arteriolopathy. Oxf Med Case Reports. 2017;2017(10):omx055.
- 92. Hayden MR, Tyagi SC, Kolb L, Sowers JR, Khanna R. Vascular ossificationcalcification in metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, and calciphylaxis-calcific uremic arteriolopathy: the emerging role of sodium thiosulfate. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*. 2005;4:4.
- 93. Szabó C. Hydrogen sulphide and its therapeutic potential. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2007;6(11):917-935.
- 94. Sen U, Vacek TP, Hughes WM, et al. Cardioprotective role of sodium thiosulfate on chronic heart failure by modulating endogenous H2S generation. *Pharmacology*. 2008;82(3):201-213.
- 95. Mishanina TV, Libiad M, Banerjee R. Biogenesis of reactive sulfur species for signaling by hydrogen sulfide oxidation pathways. *Nat Chem Biol.* 2015;11(7):457-464.
- 96. Bijarnia RK, Bachtler M, Chandak PG, van Goor H, Pasch A. Sodium thiosulfate ameliorates oxidative stress and preserves renal function in hyperoxaluric

rats. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0124881.

- 97. Snijder PM, Frenay AR, Koning AM, et al. Sodium thiosulfate attenuates angiotensin II-induced hypertension, proteinuria and renal damage. *Nitric Oxide*. 2014;42:87-98.
- 98. Song K, Wang F, Li Q, et al. Hydrogen sulfide inhibits the renal fibrosis of obstructive nephropathy. *Kidney Int*. 2014;85(6):1318-1329.
- 99. Xie C, Kauffman J, Akar FG. Functional crosstalk between the mitochondrial PTP and KATP channels determine arrhythmic vulnerability to oxidative stress. *Front Physiol.* 2014;5:264.
- Baldev N, Sriram R, Prabu PC, Kurian Gino A. Effect of mitochondrial potassium channel on the renal protection mediated by sodium thiosulfate against ethylene glycol induced nephrolithiasis in rat model. *Int Braz J Urol.* 2015;41(6):1116-1125.
- Cancherini DV, Trabuco LG, Rebouças NA, Kowaltowski AJ. ATPsensitive K+ channels in renal mitochondria. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*. 2003;285(6):F1291-F1296.
- 102. Mohan D, Balasubramanian ED, Ravindran S, Kurian GA. Renal mitochondria can withstand hypoxic/ischemic injury secondary to renal failure in uremic rats pretreated with sodium thiosulfate. *Indian J Pharmacol.* 2017;49(4):317-321.
- 103. Ravindran S, Kurian GA. Preconditioning the rat heart with sodium thiosulfate preserved the mitochondria in response to ischemia-reperfusion injury. *J Bioenerg Biomembr*. 2019;51(3):189-201.
- 104. Ravindran S, Jahir Hussain S, Boovarahan SR, Kurian GA. Sodium thiosulfate post-conditioning protects rat hearts against ischemia reperfusion injury via reduction of apoptosis and oxidative stress. *Chem Biol Interact*. 2017;274:24-34.
- 105. Ravindran S, Boovarahan SR, Shanmugam K, Vedarathinam RC, Kurian GA. Sodium Thiosulfate Preconditioning Ameliorates Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Rat Hearts Via Reduction of Oxidative Stress and Apoptosis. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther.* 2017;31(5-6):511-524.

- Marutani E, Yamada M, Ida T, et al. Thiosulfate Mediates Cytoprotective Effects of Hydrogen Sulfide Against Neuronal Ischemia. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2015;4(11):e002125.
- 107. Ohtaki H, Nakamachi T, Dohi K, et al. Pituitary adenylate cyclaseactivating polypeptide (PACAP) decreases ischemic neuronal cell death in association with IL-6. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2006;103(19):7488-7493.
- 108. Benakis C, Bonny C, Hirt L. JNK inhibition and inflammation after cerebral ischemia. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2010;24(5):800-811.
- 109. Nijboer CH, Bonestroo HJ, Zijlstra J, Kavelaars A, Heijnen CJ. Mitochondrial JNK phosphorylation as a novel therapeutic target to inhibit neuroinflammation and apoptosis after neonatal ischemic brain damage. *Neurobiol Dis.* 2013;54:432-444.
- 110. Jassem W, Fuggle SV, Rela M, Koo DD, Heaton ND. The role of mitochondria in ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Transplantation*. 2002;73(4):493-499.
- 111. Koike S, Ogasawara Y, Shibuya N, Kimura H, Ishii K. Polysulfide exerts a protective effect against cytotoxicity caused by t-buthylhydroperoxide through Nrf2 signaling in neuroblastoma cells. *FEBS Lett.* 2013;587(21):3548-3555.
- 112. Shirozu K, Tokuda K, Marutani E, Lefer D, Wang R, Ichinose F. Cystathionine γ-lyase deficiency protects mice from galactosamine/lipopolysaccharide-induced acute liver failure. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2014;20(2):204-216.
- 113. Gureev AP, Shaforostova EA, Popov VN. Regulation of Mitochondrial Biogenesis as a Way for Active Longevity: Interaction Between the Nrf2 and PGC-1α Signaling Pathways. *Front Genet*. 2019;10:435. Published 2019 May 14. doi:10.3389/fgene.2019.00435
- 114. Calvert JW, Jha S, Gundewar S, *et al.* Hydrogen sulfide mediates cardioprotection through Nrf2 signaling. *Circ. Res.* 2009, 105: 365-74.
- 115. Fan Z, Wirth AK, Chen D, et al. Nrf2-Keap1 pathway promotes cell proliferation and diminishes ferroptosis. *Oncogenesis*. 2017;6(8):e371.
- 116. Ojo AO, Wolfe RA, Held PJ, Port FK, Schmouder RL. Delayed graft function: risk factors and implications for renal allograft survival. Transplantation 1997; 63(7):968-974.

- 117. Chou PL, Chen YS, Chung SD, Lin SC, Chien CT. Sodium Thiosulfate Ameliorates Renovascular Hypertension-Induced Renal Dysfunction and Injury in Rats. *Kidney Blood Press Res*. 2021;46(1):41-52.
- 118. Liangos O, Perianayagam MC, Vaidya VS et al: Urinary N-acetyl-beta-(D)glucosaminidase activity and kidney injury molecule-1 level are associated with adverse outcomes in acute renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2007; 18: 904
- 119. Bonventre JV: Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1): a urinary biomarker and much more. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2009; 24: 3265.
- 120. Song J, Yu J, Prayogo GW, et al. Understanding kidney injury molecule 1: a novel immune factor in kidney pathophysiology. Am J Transl Res. 2019;11(3):1219-1229. Published 2019 Mar 15.
- 121. Collier JB, Schnellmann RG. Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1/2 Regulates Mouse Kidney Injury Molecule-1 Expression Physiologically and Following Ischemic and Septic Renal Injury. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2017;363(3):419-427.
- 122. Shahbaz SK, Pourrezagholi F, Barabadi M, et al. High expression of TIM-3 and KIM-1 in blood and urine of renal allograft rejection patients. *Transpl Immunol*. 2017;43-44:11-20.
- 123. Han WK, Bailly V, Abichandani R, Thadhani R, Bonventre JV. Kidney Injury Molecule-1 (KIM-1): a novel biomarker for human renal proximal tubule injury. *Kidney Int*. 2002;62(1):237-244.
- 124. Schrezenmeier EV, Barasch J, Budde K, Westhoff T, Schmidt-Ott KM. Biomarkers in acute kidney injury - pathophysiological basis and clinical performance. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*. 2017;219(3):554-572.
- 125. Pefanis A, Ierino FL, Murphy JM, Cowan PJ. Regulated necrosis in kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Kidney Int*. 2019;96(2):291-301.
- 126. Su H, Lei CT, Zhang C. Interleukin-6 Signaling Pathway and Its Role in Kidney Disease: An Update. *Front Immunol*. 2017;8:405. Published 2017 Apr 21.
- 127. Lee M, McGeer EG, McGeer PL. Sodium thiosulfate attenuates glial-mediated neuroinflammation in degenerative neurological diseases. *J Neuroinflammation*. 2016;13:32. Published 2016 Feb 8.
- 128. Jordan SC, Choi J, Kim I, et al. Interleukin-6, A Cytokine Critical to Mediation of Inflammation, Autoimmunity and Allograft Rejection: Therapeutic Implications of IL-6 Receptor Blockade. *Transplantation*. 2017;101(1):32-44.
- 129. Juriasingani S, Akbari M, Chan JY, Whiteman M, Sener A. H₂S supplementation: A novel method for successful organ preservation at subnormothermic temperatures. *Nitric Oxide*.
- 130. Wang W, Wang A, Luo G, Ma F, Wei X, Bi Y. S1P1 receptor inhibits kidney epithelial mesenchymal transition triggered by ischemia/reperfusion injury via the PI3K/Akt pathway. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)*.
- 131. Perelman A, Wachtel C, Cohen M, Haupt S, Shapiro H, Tzur A. JC-1: alternative excitation wavelengths facilitate mitochondrial membrane potential cytometry. *Cell Death Dis*. 2012;3(11):e430. Published 2012 Nov 22.
- 132. Jagasia MH, Greinix HT, Arora M, et al. National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Project on Criteria for Clinical Trials in Chronic Graft-versus-Host Disease: I. The 2014 Diagnosis and Staging Working Group report. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*.
- 133. Guo Y, Ding S, Guo H, et al. Graft-versus-host-disease after kidney transplantation: A case report and literature review. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2017;96(26):e7333.
- 134. Law J, Hornby K, Payne C, Sener A, Luke PP. Missed opportunities for DCD kidney donors: Evaluation of warm ischemic time and associated functional warm ischemic time. *Clin Transplant*. 2019;33(11):e13724.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Max Zhang
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Windsor Windsor, Ontario, Canada 2014-2018 BMSc
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2018-2021 MSc.
Honours and Awards:	Travel Award – ASTS 19 th Annual Winter Symposium 2019
	UWO Dean's Honor List 2014-2018

Publications:

Zhang MY, Dugbartey GJ, Juriasingani S, Sener A. Hydrogen Sulfide Metabolite, Sodium Thiosulfate: Clinical Applications and Underlying Molecular Mechanisms. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(12):6452.

Dugbartey GJ, Juriasingani S, **Zhang MY**, Sener A. H₂S donor molecules against cold ischemia-reperfusion injury in preclinical models of solid organ transplantation [published online ahead of print, 2021 Aug 24]. *Pharmacol Res.* 2021;105842.

Juriasingani S, Jackson A, **Zhang MY**, et al. Evaluating the Effects of Subnormothermic Perfusion with AP39 in a Novel Blood-Free Model of Ex Vivo Kidney Preservation and Reperfusion. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(13):7180. Published 2021 Jul 2.